
 

 

Please ask for Democratic Services: Telephone 01775 764626  

e-mail: demservices@sholland.gov.uk 

 

AGENDA 
 
 
 

 
 

Committee - POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL 
 
Date & Time - Tuesday, 15 September 2020 at 6.30 pm 
 

Venue - This will be a meeting held in line with The 
Local Authorities & Police & Crime Panels 
(Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority & 
Police & Crime Panel Meetings) (England & 
Wales) Regulations 2020 

 

The meeting will be held virtually via Zoom and 
streamed live, via the following link: 

 
www.facebook.com/SouthHollandDCofficial/ 

 
 

Membership of the Policy Development Panel: 
 
Councillors: J R Astill, J Avery, F Biggadike, M D Booth, H Drury, R A Gibson, M Hasan, 
J L King, J D McLean (Vice-Chairman), P A Redgate, J L Reynolds, G T D Rudkin, S-
A Slade, E J Sneath, S C Walsh and A R Woolf (Chairman) 
 

 

 Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn off mobile telephones 

 
 
 
 
Democratic Services 
Council Offices, Priory Road 
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE 
 
Date:   7 September 2020 



 

 

 
A G E N D A 

 
1.  Apologies for absence.  

 
 

2.  Minutes  
To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the Policy 
Development Panel held on 23 June 2020 (copies enclosed). 
 

(Pages 5 
- 12) 

3.  Declaration of Interests.  
Where a Councillor has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest the Councillor 
must declare the interest and leave the meeting without participating in 
any discussion or making a statement on the item, except where a 
councillor is permitted to remain as a result of a grant of dispensation. 
 

 

4.  Questions asked under Standing Order 6  
 

 

5.  Tracking of recommendations  
To consider responses of the Cabinet reports of the Panel.   
 

 

6.  Items referred from the Performance Monitoring Panel  
 

 

7.  Key Decision Plan   
To note the current Key Decision Plan (copy enclosed). 
   

(Pages 
13 - 18) 

8.  Policy Register   
To note the current Policy Register  
 

(Pages 
19 - 26) 

9.  Review of Lettings Policy for SHDC's Industrial Units  
To set out the basis of the proposed replacement of the 2005 Lettings 
Policy for SHDC's industrial units with a new Lettings Policy and 
provide Policy Development Panel with an update on these industrial 
units and the preparation of a replacement Asset Management 
Strategy 2014-2019 for the Council (report of the Executive Manager – 
Property and Development enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
27 - 44) 

10.  Empty Homes Strategy   
To consider a revised strategy, targeting long term empty properties 
and increasing the supply of homes brought back into use (report of 
the Executive Director – Commercialisation (S151 Officer) enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
45 - 56) 

11.  Tenancy Management policy   
To seek approval of the Tenancy Management Policy (report of the 
Portfolio Holder for Housing and Health and Executive Director – 
Commercialisation (S151 Officer) enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
57 - 82) 

12.  Housing Assistance Policy   
To update policies and enable South Holland District Council to assist 
a range of vulnerable and/or disadvantaged households (report of the 
Executive Director – Commercialisation (S151 Officer) enclosed). 
 
 

(Pages 
83 - 112) 



 

 

13.  Market Trader Fees   
To propose a new fee structure for Spalding market traders (report of 
Environmental Services Manager enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
113 - 
118) 

14.  Policy Development Panel Work Programme   
To set out the Work Programme of the Policy Development Panel 
(report of the Executive Manager – Governance (Deputy Monitoring 
Officer) enclosed). 
 

(Pages 
119 - 
124) 

15.  Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent. -  
 
 
NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by reason of 

special circumstances, which shall be specified in the 
minutes, the Chairman is of the opinion that the item(s) 
should be considered as a matter of urgency.   

 



This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 - 
 

 

Minutes of a meeting of the POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held in line with The 
Local Authorities & Police & Crime Panels (Coronavirus) (Flexibility of Local Authority 
& Police & Crime Panel Meetings) (England & Wales) Regulations 2020, on Tuesday, 
23 June 2020 at 6.30 pm. 
 

PRESENT 

  
A R Woolf (Chairman) 

J D McLean (Vice-Chairman) 
 

 

J R Astill 
F Biggadike 
M D Booth 
R A Gibson 
 

M Hasan 
J L King 
P A Redgate 
J L Reynolds 
 

G T D Rudkin 
S-A Slade 
E J Sneath 
S C Walsh 
 

In Attendance:  Councillor A M Newton, the Executive Manager Governance, the 
Place Manager, the Executive Manager Property and Development, the Housing 
Landlord Services Manager, the Strategic Housing Manager, the Project Manager 
(Delivery Unit), the Environmental Services Manager, the Planning and Building  
Control Manager, the Democratic Services Manager and the Democratic Services 
Officer.  
 
Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors J Avery  
 
 
 Action By 

1. POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL   

  

 Consideration was given to the minutes of the meeting of the 
Policy Development Panel held on 21 January 2020. 
 
AGREED: 
 
That the minutes be signed as a correct record as soon as 
practicable after the meeting. 

 

   

2. JOINT PERFORMANCE MONITORING PANEL AND POLICY 
 DEVELOPMENT PANEL  

 

  

 Consideration was given to the minutes of the meeting of the Joint 
Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel 
held on 14 January 2020. 
 
AGREED: 
 
That the minutes be signed as a correct record as soon as 
practicable after the meeting. 

 

   

3. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS.   

  

Page 5

Agenda Item 2.



- 2 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 23 June 
2020 

 

 

 

 There were none.  

   

4. QUESTIONS ASKED UNDER STANDING ORDER 6   

  

 There were none.  

   

5. TRACKING OF RECOMMENDATIONS   

  

 There were none.  

   

6. ITEMS REFERRED FROM THE PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
 PANEL  

 

  

 There were none.  

   

7. KEY DECISION PLAN   

  

 Consideration was given to the Key Decision Plan dated 15 June 
2020. 
 
AGREED: 
 
That the Key Decision Plan be noted. 

 

   

8. POLICY REGISTER   

  

 The Panel gave consideration to the Policy Register dated 7 
January 2020. 
 
It was noted that the deadline for the Asset Management Strategy 
was a year behind schedule however, the Chairman advised that 
work on this was being undertaken. 
 
Monitoring of the register had slipped as a result of the necessity 
to redirect resources to address the Coronavirus pandemic.  The 
Panel was understanding of this and advised that monitoring 
would continue again over the next few months. 
 
AGREED: 
 
That the Policy Register be noted. 

 

   

9. PLANNING DESIGN TASK GROUP REPORT   

  

 Consideration was given to the report of the Planning Design 
Task Group, which provided an update on its work.  It requested 
that the Panel give consideration to the report and to the draft 
South East Lincolnshire Local Plan Design Guide Supplementary 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



- 3 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 23 June 
2020 

 

 

 

Planning Document (SPD), and that any comments on the draft 
document be forwarded to the South East Lincolnshire Joint 
Strategic Planning Committee for consideration. 
 
It was noted that the Joint Strategic Planning Committee had 
been due to meet to consider the SPD however, this meeting had 
been cancelled due to the Coronavirus pandemic.  The Task 
Group commented that the original timescale that had been set to 
undertakes its work had been dictated by the date that the Joint 
Strategic Planning Committee was due to consider the SPD, and 
that as this date had been delayed, the Task Group would 
welcome the opportunity to explore issues further  
 
The Planning and Building Control Manager advised that no new 
date had yet been set for consideration of the SPD. It was 
therefore agreed that the Task Group reconvene to explore the 
issues further, whilst being mindful of the new timescales for the 
Joint Strategic Planning Committee, and the capacity to 
undertake this additional work. 
 
AGREED: 
 
a) That the report of the Planning Design Task Group be noted; 

and 
 
b) That the Task Group be reconvened to explore issues further, 

taking account of the new timescales for consideration of the 
Supplementary Planning Document by the South East 
Lincolnshire Joint Strategic Planning Committee, and the 
capacity to undertake the additional work. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
PN, CP  

   

10. COMMERCIAL ASSETS   

  

 The Project Manager, Delivery Unit provided the Panel with a 
presentation on the current situation with regard to the council’s 
commercial assets. It was an interim update, with a more 
substantive report on commercial property to be presented to the 
next meeting in September 2020 – this would include information 
on approval of a new Lettings Policy, and update on Building Cell 
recovery, and details of the Asset Management Plan. 
 
The interim update provided some background on the new 
Lettings Policy, details of the current Commercial Property Estate, 
and the current position. 
 
Members considered the update and the following issues were 
raised: 
 

 

Page 7



- 4 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 23 June 
2020 

 

 

 

 How had the Coronavirus pandemic changed the situation 
around commercial assets: 

o With regard to the Asset Management Plan, it was 
likely that the pandemic would have some effect on 
individuals circumstances e.g availability of units, 
cash-flow .  In three months’ time, officers would 
have a clearer position on what the state of the 
market was, and how to progress. 

 

 Members were aware of units that were currently vacant and 
for rental – would tenants be sought now, before the formal 
Asset Management Plan was in place? 

o Officers confirmed that interim arrangements, as 
agreed by the Portfolio Holder for Communities and 
Facilities, were in place to cover such eventualities, 
and that officers were seeking to rent the units out 
as soon as possible. 

 

 Members commented that 70% uptake of grants was good 
however, had the remaining 30% not been taken up because 
applications had been refused, or because businesses had not 
applied? 

o Officers advised that the profile showed that the 
majority of those that had applied were not eligible 
for the grants applied for at the time.  However, new 
funding had become available, and businesses were 
being encouraged to make an application for the 
new funding, which they may be eligible for. 

 
AGREED: 
 
That the update be noted. 

   

11. HOUSING ISSUES   

  

 The Housing Landlord Services Manager and the Strategic 
Housing Manager  provided the Panel with a presentation on the 
current situation with regard to Housing. 
 
Issues covered within the presentation included – Housing 
Options; Council Housing; Strategic Housing; Housing 
Development; Policy work coming forward (Empty Homes 
Strategy, Housing Assistance Policy, Allocations Policy, Housing 
Development Strategy); Allocations Policy aspirations; and 
Development Strategy aspirations. 
 
Members considered the update, and the following issues were 
raised: 

 

Page 8



- 5 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 23 June 
2020 

 

 

 

 

 Members commented that the update from officers 
was encouraging. 

 

 Rough sleepers had successfully been found 
accommodation during the Coronavirus pandemic however, 
what would happen afterwards? 

o Officers advised that before the pandemic, the 
council had been successful in achieving funding to 
assist with rough sleepers.  It was looking to bring 
this project back on line, to deal with homelessness 
going forward.  It was a shared project which 
included South Holland, North Kesteven, South 
Kesteven and West Lindsey District Councils, and 
had 14 posts dedicated to it, including some quite 
specialist staff.  It aspired to be a more holistic, 
wrap-around service than could currently be 
delivered.  Work needed to continue following the 
pandemic, and it was important to provide additional 
support to reduce homeless numbers.    

 

 Performance on planned programme maintenance had 
been good.  How far behind was the programme as a result of 
the Coronavirus pandemic, when would the work be brought 
up to date, and were residents satisfied? 

o Officers stated that work had been due to start in 
April, but had been paused in April, May and June.  
It was being re-started by writing to customers to 
advise of their place in the programme, and whether 
they were happy to have the work done. The 
heating programme was to be accelerated over July 
and August to catch up, and finish the vast majority 
of the programme before the winter.  There had 
been positive feedback with regard to kitchens and 
bathrooms, and arrangements were to be finalised 
with the contractor.  All customers had been happy 
for the programme to be paused initially, but were 
now happy for works to be undertaken.  If any work 
was refused due to issues such as shielding, 
tenants would not be penalised, and any works 
instead would be moved to the next year’s 
programme. 

 
AGREED: 
 
That the update be noted. 

   

12. POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL WORK PROGRAMME   

Page 9



- 6 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 23 June 
2020 

 

 

 

  

 The Panel considered a report by the Executive Manager 
Governance, which set out the work programme of the Panel.  
The work programme consisted of two sections, the first setting 
out the dates of future panel meetings along with proposed items 
for consideration, and the second setting out Task Groups that 
had been identified by the Panel. 
 
Members were requested to consider the suggested timetable for 
items that had been due for discussion at this meeting and the 
last meeting in March (which had been cancelled as a result of 
the Coronavirus pandemic), detailed at Appendix A and whether it 
wished to add consideration of the Devolution proposals to its 
work programme. 
 
Members considered the report, and the following issues were 
raised: 
 

 An updated Planning Design Task Group report would be 
presented to the next meeting of the Panel in September. 

 

 Devolution was an issue that the Panel wished to look into 
further, and it was felt that this should be added to the Work 
Programme as soon as possible.  The Executive Manager 
Governance stated that a White Paper was due in the autumn 
and once available, he would set a terms of reference.  

 

 Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Task Group – members 
asked what the current situation was with regard to this. 

o Officers responded this needed to be considered in 
line with the Planning Design Task Group, and also 
with regard to available resources. 

 
AGREED: 
 
a) That the Work Programme be noted, and the revised dates 

contained therein be approved; 
 
b) That a further Planning Design Task Group report be 

considered at the next meeting of the Panel; 
 
c) That consideration of Devolution be added to the Panel’s Work 

Programme, and that the Executive Manager, Governance set 
a terms of reference, once the White Paper had been 
published; and 

 
d) That the Planning and Building Control Manager liaise with the 

Chairman regarding time lines and resources in respect of 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
CM  
 
 
 
 
MS 
 
 
 
 
  
PN  

Page 10



- 7 - 
 
POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 23 June 
2020 

 

 

 

taking the CIL Task Group forward. 
   

13. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
 URGENT.  

 

  

 There were none.  

   

 
(The meeting ended at 19:52) 
 
(End of minutes) 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



 
1 

 

 

    

KEY DECISION PLAN 
 

Issued – 2 September 2020 

  

 

Representations in respect of all the matters shown should be sent in writing, at least one week before the date or period the decision 
is likely to be made, to:  

 Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE 
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk 

 

The Key Decision Plan shows all Key decisions that the Council is likely to make over the next twelve months 
 
The Key Decision Plan is updated on a rolling basis and shows the decisions that will be considered and the date when the decision is 
expected to be made. In accordance with the Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed within this document, unless otherwise 
stated, come into force and may then be implemented on the expiry of a 5 working day call-in period  from the date of publication of 
any decision.   
 
Key decisions are: “A decision which, in relation to an executive function, has a significant effect on communities in two or more 
Wards of the Council and / or is likely to result in the Authority incurring expenditure, generating income or making savings in any 
single financial year above the threshold of £75,000 in respect of revenue expenditure and £180,000 in respect of capital expenditure.” 
 
Significant decisions are: 1. A decision made in connection with setting the Council Tax; 2. A decision to approve any matter relating 
to a Policy or Strategic Plan; 3. Any non-Executive decision which significantly affects the community in two or more wards or electoral 
divisions. Some of the decisions will be recommendations to full Council, particularly if they impact on the Budget and the Policy 
Framework (comprising of statutory plans and strategies) 
 

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 7.

mailto:demservices@sholland.gov.uk


PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

 
2 

 

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health 
 
 
Electrical 
Materials 
 

To award a contract for an electrical 
materials provider. 
 

 
 
 
 

 Housing Landlord 
Manager or any other 
officer with delegation 

Before 30 Sep 2020 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for Place 
 
 
Capital Spend in 
Environmental 
Services 
 

Detail of the capital programme for 
environmental services, as agreed in 
the budget, and its intended spend 
 

 
 
 
 

 Executive Director - 
Commercialisation (S151) 
or any other officer with 
delegation, Not before 4th 
Sep 2020 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for Communities 
and Facilities 
 
 
Community 
Lottery 
 

To seek approval to set up South 
Holland Community Lottery 

 

 
 
 
 

 Cabinet 15 Sep 2020 or 
Leader 
 

P
age 14



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

 
3 

 

Portfolio Holder 
for Communities 
and Facilities 
 
 
Plumbing and 
General 
Maintenance 
Contract 
 

The procurement of a contract to 
undertake works to the Councils 
assets is required. The contract will 
allow use by the HRA if required 
 

 
 
 
 

 Executive Director - 
Commercialisation (S151) 
or any other officer with 
delegation, Before 30 Sep 
2020 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health 
 
 
Electrical Works 
Contract 
 

There is a requirement to procure a 
contract for works to commercial 
assets owned by the Council. The 
contract is intended to enable 
occasional use if required for the 
Councils properties 
 

 
 
 
 

 Executive Director - 
Commercialisation (S151) 
or any other officer with 
delegation, Before 30 Sep 
2020 
 

P
age 15



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

 
4 

 

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health 
 
 
Contract for 
Maintenance of 
Alarms and 
Associated 
Equipment & 
Telecare Service 
in Sheltered 
Housing 
properties 
 

New contract following expiry of 
existing contract to maintain wellbeing 
alarm equipment, and administer 
telecare service 
 

 
 
 
 

 Housing Landlord 
Manager or any other 
officer with delegation, Not 
before 12th Oct 2020 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health 
 
 
Housing 
Assistance Policy 
 

To update policies and enable South 
Holland District Council to further 
assist a range of vulnerable and/or 
disadvantaged households 

 

 
 
 
 

 Cabinet 27 Oct 2020 or 
Leader 
 

P
age 16



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

 
5 

 

Portfolio Holder 
for Finance, 
Portfolio Holder 
for Growth and 
Commercialisatio
n, Portfolio 
Holder for 
Housing and 
Health 
 
 
Property 
acquisition to 
support Housing 
Options service 
delivery 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 

 Cabinet 27 Oct 2020 or 
Leader 
 

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health 
 
 
Acquisition 
project to 
purchase S106 
units 
 

To consider the business case relating 
to a potential acquisition project to 
purchase 7 s106 units within the 
district. 

 

 
 
 
 

 Cabinet 27 Oct 2020 or 
Leader 
 

P
age 17



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT 

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION 

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS 

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION 

 
6 

 

Portfolio Holder 
for Place 
 
 
Daffodil Route 
Improvements 
 

To provide an update on potential 
improvements to the Daffodil Route 
between Pinchbeck Road and Johnson 
Hospital utilising section 106 funding to 
improve health and well being 
opportunities 

 

 
 
 
 

 Cabinet 27 Oct 2020 or 
Leader 
 

 
 
 

*Cabinet Membership 

The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE (Leader) 
Councillor C N Worth (Deputy Leader of the Council) 
Councillor P E Coupland (Deputy Leader) 
Councillor T Carter (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor A Casson (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor R Gambba-Jones (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor C J Lawton (Portfolio Holder) 
Councillor G J Taylor (Portfolio Holder) 
 
 

 
If you have any comments or queries regarding any of the entries in the Key Decision Plan please contact: 

 
Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE 
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk 

 

P
age 18

mailto:demservices@sholland.gov.uk


1 

SHDC Policy Register 
 
 

 
 

Rows are sorted by End Date 
 
Policy Title Policy Type Can Policy be 

influenced 
(flexible scope) 

Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle  

End Date Policy Status  Latest Note Assigned To 

Asset Management 
Strategy 

Constitutional Yes 18-Jun-2014 5 years 18-Jun-2019 Pending 
Approval 

The work to 
develop an Asset 
Management 
Strategy requires 
cross service 
input from Growth 
and 
Commercialisatio
n and the Place 
directorate. The 
work to develop a 
strategy will 
predominantly be 
led by the 
Strategic Property 
Manager which is 
currently an 
unfilled post. 
Work is being 
undertaken by the 
Assets Team to 
develop a new 
Lettings policy 
which is 
considered to be 

Jason King/Richard 
Hodgson 

P
age 19

A
genda Item

 8.



2 

Policy Title Policy Type Can Policy be 
influenced 
(flexible scope) 

Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle  

End Date Policy Status  Latest Note Assigned To 

having the most 
significant impact 
on operational 
assets currently 

Health & Safety 
Policy 

Statutory No 22-Nov-2017 3 years 01-Nov-2020 Approved This has been 
agreed by PSPS 
to be a 3 yearly 
policy review 
cycle in line with 
other 
organisations, this 
policy is on track 
to be approved by 
its end date and 
policy holder is 
happy to bring 
forward to panel 
in November  

Emily Ferrier; Nick 
Kendrick 

AHM Collections 
Development Policy 

Non Statutory No 01-Feb-2018 2 years 01-Feb-2020 Pending Review To be brought 
forward to the 
November 
meeting’ 

Julia Knight 

AHM Collections 
Care and 
Conservation Policy 

Non Statutory No 01-Feb-2018 2 years 01-Feb-2020 Pending Review To be brought 
forward to the 
November 
meeting’ 

Julia Knight 

Sexual 
Establishments 
Policy Statement 

Non Statutory Yes 06-Sep-2017 3 years 06-Sep-2020 Approved  
 

Donna Hall 

Unreasonable 
Behaviour and 
vexatious requests 

Non Statutory Yes 21-Nov-2017 3 years 21-Nov-2020 Approved  Sarah 
Wolstenholme-Smy 

P
age 20



3 

Policy Title Policy Type Can Policy be 
influenced 
(flexible scope) 

Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle  

End Date Policy Status  Latest Note Assigned To 

Counter Fraud and 
Corruption Policy 

Non Statutory Yes 14-Dec-2017 3 years 14-Dec-2020 Approved  Faye Haywood 

Whistleblowing 
Policy - Confidential 
Reporting Code 

Statutory Yes 14-Dec-2017 3 years 14-Dec-2020 Approved  Faye Haywood 

Statement of 
Licensing Policy 

Constitutional Yes 07-Jan-2016 5 years 07-Jan-2021 Approved Statutory 
requirement to 
review every 5 
years   

Donna Hall 

HR Policy Handbook Non Statutory Yes 18-Jan-2017 3 years 18-Jan-2021 Approved The policy 
handbook is 
currently under 
review, a clause 
states in this 
handbook that 
unless significant 
changes are 
made then this 
policy handbook 
does not need to 
be reviewed by 
Committee, as 
there will be no 
significant 
changes the HR 
manager does not 
feel a review will 
be required. 
However the 
panel will be 
notified when the 
review is 
complete. 

Claire Burton 

P
age 21



4 

Policy Title Policy Type Can Policy be 
influenced 
(flexible scope) 

Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle  

End Date Policy Status  Latest Note Assigned To 

ICT Incident 
Management 

Non-Statutory Yes 21-Jan-2020 Annual 19-Feb02021 Approved  Jackie Wright 
(PSPS) 

Employee Access 
Policy 

Non-statutory Yes 21-JAN-2020 Annual 19-FEB-2021 Approved  Jackie Wright 
(PSPS) 

Corporate Plan Constitutional Yes 08-Mar-2018 1 year 01-Mar-2021 Approved Plan is reviewed 
annually and 
currently 
underway as part 
of COVID-19 
Recovery plans 

Greg Pearson 

Capital Strategy Constitutional Yes 27-Feb-2019 1 year 31-Mar-2021 Approved Approved by full 
council in Feb 

Samantha Knowles 

Corporate Charging 
Policy - Accounting 
Services 

Constitutional Yes 08-Mar-2018 1 year 31-Mar-2021 Approved Approved by full 
council in Feb 

Samantha Knowles 

Medium Term 
Financial Strategy 

Constitutional No 08-Mar-2018 1 year 31-Mar-2021 Approved Approved by full 
council in Feb 

Samantha Knowles 

Treasury 
Management 
Strategy Statement 

Constitutional No 08-Mar-2018 1 year 31-Mar-2021 Approved Approved by full 
council in Feb 

Samantha Knowles 

Treasury Policy 
Statement & Clauses 
to be Adopted 

Constitutional No 08-Mar-2018 1 year 31-Mar-2021 Approved Approved by full 
council in Feb 

Samantha Knowles 

Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy 
Statement 

Constitutional No 08-Mar-2018 1 year 31-Mar-2021 Approved Approved by full 
council in Feb 

Samantha Knowles 

Data Protection 
Policy 

Statutory No 29-May-2018 3 years 29-May-2021 Approved Agreed at 29th 
May Cabinet 

Kirsty Mallett 

Corporate 
Enforcement Policy 

Non Statutory Yes 29-May-2018 3 years 29-May-2021 Approved  Sarah Shipley 

P
age 22



5 

Policy Title Policy Type Can Policy be 
influenced 
(flexible scope) 

Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle  

End Date Policy Status  Latest Note Assigned To 

Equalities Policy Non Statutory Yes 26-Jun-2018 3 years 26-Jun-2021 Approved  Ross Bangs 

Freedom of 
Information (FoI) 
Policy 

Statutory No 26-Jun-2018 3 years 26-Jun-2021 Approved  Ross Bangs 

Corporate Debt 
Policy - Accounting 
Services 

Non Statutory Yes 25-Jul-2017 3 years 25-Jul-2021 Approved Approved by full 
council in Feb 

Samantha Knowles 

Street Naming and 
Numbering Policy 

Statutory Yes 01-Nov-2018 3 years 01-Nov-2021 Approved  Clinton Bell 

Hate Crime Policy Non Statutory No 01-Nov-2018 3 years 01-Nov-2021 Approved Superseded by 
county policy - 
internal 
procedures will be 
updated as per 
agreement with 
policy panel 

Dee Bedford 

Safeguarding Policy Statutory No 20-Nov-2018 3 years 01-Nov-2021 Approved Policy approved 
at SHDC cabinet 
20/11/18 

Donna Hall 

Gambling Policy - 
Statement of 
Principles 

Constitutional Yes 28-Nov-2018 3 years 28-Nov-2021 Approved Approved at 
SHDC full council 
28/11/18 

Donna Hall 

Records 
Management Policy 

  Yes   3 years 01-Jan-2022 Pending 
Approval 

 Kirsty Mallett 

Strategic Tenancy 
Policy 

Statutory No 01-Feb-2019 3 years 01-Feb-2022 Approved Caroline Hannon 
Attended PDP  in 
Feb where it was 
agreed to go to 
Senior Officers to 
determine the 
appetite for 

Matthew Hogan 

P
age 23



6 

Policy Title Policy Type Can Policy be 
influenced 
(flexible scope) 

Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle  

End Date Policy Status  Latest Note Assigned To 

reviewing, the 
Panel were 
satisfied that 
officers would 
determine if there 
was an appetite 
for this. 
 
All councils are 
told to have a 
strategic tenancy 
policy, but this 
isn’t one that 
needs a formal 
review at this 
stage 

Anti-Social Behaviour 
Policy 

Statutory Yes 01-May-2019 3 years 01-Mar-2022 Approved The ASB Policy 
has been 
approved, as it is 
currently that of 
the Lincolnshire 
County Council 
one. The County 
one is currently 
out for 
consultation as it 
has been updated 
in line with new 
recommendations 
from the victims 
commissioner, 
any updated on 
this will be fed 
through to PDP 

Dee Bedford 

P
age 24



7 

Policy Title Policy Type Can Policy be 
influenced 
(flexible scope) 

Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle  

End Date Policy Status  Latest Note Assigned To 

South Holland 
Common Housing 
Allocations Policy 

Statutory No 01-Jun-2013 3 years 01-Mar-2022 Approved This policy has 
been approved by 
PDP and is now 
going through the 
final process of 
approval 

Phil Stacey 

Affordable Housing 
Policy 

Non Statutory Yes 01-Jan-2009 3 years 01-Apr-2022 Approved This Policy has 
approved within 
the Local Plan, It 
has been agreed 
there doesn't 
need to be a 
separate housing 
strategy, this has 
now been formally 
adopted in line 
with the Local 
Plan 

Matthew Hogan 

Taxi Licensing Policy Non Statutory Yes 01-Jun-2019 3 years 01-Jun-2022 Approved  Donna Hall 

Constitution Statutory No 18-Jan-2018 1 year Ongoing Approved Changes continue 
to be made when 
and where 
necessary and 
agreed at Council 
on a regular 
basis. 

Rhonda Booth 

 
  

P
age 25



T
his page is intentionally left blank



 

 

SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Report of: Executive Manager – Property & Development 

 

To: Policy Development Panel 

  

Author: Richard Hodgson – Executive Manager – Property & Development 

 

Subject Review of Lettings Policy for SHDC's industrial units and proposed 

replacement Policy, brief update on the management of industrial units and 

update on replacement of the 2014-2019 Asset Management Strategy. 

 

Purpose: To set out the basis of the proposed replacement of the 2005 Lettings Policy 

for SHDC's industrial units with a new Lettings Policy and provide Policy 

Development Panel with an update on these industrial units and the 

preparation of a replacement Asset Management Strategy 2014-2019 for the 

Council. 

 

 
Recommendation(s):  
 
The Policy Development Panel to : 
 
1) Note that the Council’s 2005 Lettings Policy for industrial units has been reviewed and 

consider the proposed replacement Lettings Policy details of which are set out in this report. 
This new policy is due to be considered by Cabinet at its meeting on 26th October. 
 

2) Note and support the recommendation to Cabinet that the current officers delegation ‘to 
grant industrial unit tenancies which meet the lettings criteria of general or light industrial use 
and make determinations, in accordance with the approved policy, in respect of:  the level of 
rent deposit payable, any rent free period to be granted, and any discount to be granted for 
additional units’ is updated and simplified to read : 

 
To grant industrial unit tenancies which meet the lettings criteria and make determinations, in 
accordance with the approved policy. 
 

3) Note that the proposed timetable for the drafting of a full Asset Management Strategy to 
replace the Council’s Asset Management Strategy 2014-2019 has now been impacted by the 
Covid 19 pandemic and until the position is clearer on the impact on assets use and 
utilisation the drafting and subsequent presentation of this draft Strategy is paused. Panel 
should note however that the core data collection process has commenced and will be 
completed by the end of October. An update this can be presented to PDP at its scheduled 
meeting in November, as required. 
 

4) Note the steps taken to improve the tidiness of the commercial property estate and  
preparations made for the grant of new leases (on approval of the new Lettings Policy).  

 
 

 

1.0 BACKGROUND 

  

Page 27

Agenda Item 9.



 

 

1.1 The Council owns and manages five industrial estates at various locations across the 

District totalling some 50 units, 49 of which are currently let and income producing. These 

are situated in the towns of Crowland (Pinnacle Close & Horseshoe Yard), Sutton Bridge 

(Railway Lane), Holbeach (Fleet Road) and Spalding (Benner Road)  

 

1.2 The majority of the units are small (around 600sqft) with the exception of units on Pinnacle 

Close in Crowland which are larger (over 1,000sqft). Of the 50 industrial units the council 

owns and manages, 49 are presently let. The only vacant unit is at Railway Lane, Sutton 

Bridge but has a number of interested parties looking at leasing options.  

 

1.3 The Council has budgeted a sum of £150k for capital works principally for re-roofing works 

and the clearance of land to the rear of the Long Sutton estate to prepare the ground to 

take storage containers. These containers can be provided and let by the council or let on a 

ground lease basis where tenants provide their own.. Some road repairs and landscaping 

improvements have also taken place on this estate.  

 

1.4 At Horseshoe Yard Crowland, new LED lighting has been installed and boundary fence 

replacement is programmed. Door servicing has taken place at the Benner Road units and 

will be rolled out across other units. There has been a concerted effort across all the 

estates to tidy up, limit storage outside of units and improve trade refuse storage around 

units.  Frontages of units have and will continue to be jet washed, additional grounds 

maintenance has been undertaken across the estate and regular engagement with tenants 

on ensuring lease compliance. Asset officers have actively engaged with tenants 

particularly those who are regularly in breach of the terms of their letting agreements. The 

council have granted six new leases on improved commercial terms (reflecting the new 

proposed precedent lease and new Letting Policy terms) and negotiations have begun with 

a number of other tenants regarding the grant of a new lease.  

 

 

1.5 The Council has an adopted Asset Management Strategy dated 2014-2019. The Strategy 

sets out a vision for assets to be managed effectively including making sure that assets are 

fit for purpose, where appropriate generate sustained income and support economic and 

environmental regeneration of the district. Aims and objectives of the strategy for example 

include underpinning the capital programme from the disposal of surplus, optimising the 

value of the commercial assets for example through letting and providing assets that meet 

service need. 

 

1.6 Since the Asset Management Strategy was adopted a number of things have happened 

including the adoption of a new Local Plan, the securing of substantial grant to support the 

delivery of projects like Section 5 of the South Western Relief Road (SWRR) and the Food 

Enterprise Zone (FEZ) in Holbeach. Assets have been acquired such as those required for 

the SWRR delivery, others will help improve the future wellbeing of citizens through specific 

interventions such as the acquisition of Moulton Park where there are plans to open the 

park to the public with a new innovative funding structure.  

 

1.7 New housing has also been delivered by the council including construction of new homes 

for the council’s wholly owned housing company – Welland Homes. New residential 

properties have also been acquired direct from developers many of which are now in the 

Housing Revenue Account (HRA) in some cases replacing properties sold under Right to 

Buy. Asset review work continues on finding optimum alternative uses for sites like the 

former depot site at Holbeach and the utilisation of other assets have been challenged for 

Page 28



 

 

example how the council uses the Priory Road offices. Here the council has reduced the 

amount of space it occupies and from this has come new lettings oportunities including to 

the Department of Work and Pensions and Lincolnshire County Council who have 

relocated their Registry Office.  There are also plans to build a 40 bed extracare facility on 

land owned by the Council, the first extracare facility in the District. 

 

1.8 A replacement Asset Management Strategy will capture all these initiatives and include an 

Implementation Plan setting out a programme of activities, identifying dependencies and a 

framework for how the Council will for example seek to deliver capital receipts, better utilise 

assets and improve sustainability. The strategy will need to be flexible enough to meet 

changing corporate objectives. The strategy will identify opportunities to drive income from 

existing commercial asset and identify new income sources and efficiencies ensuring that 

our assets make the optimum contribution to the Council’s priorities and objectives. One 

way of doing that will be through the implementation of a new Lettings Policy, the main area 

covered later in this report. 

 

1.9 Plans were in place to commence the drafting of the replacement Asset Management 

Strategy in Spring of 2020. Drafting of this document was initially held pending recruitment 

to the Strategic Property Manager post and as a result of the Property Services and Asset 

Manager and Assets Officer leaving the organisation. In the case of the 2 senior posts 

there have been a number of attempts to fill these posts without success. Another attempt 

to recruit to both posts has just closed again without success.  

 

1.10 The Council is sourcing consultancy currently to cover these two senior assets posts. It is 

proposed that NPS (Peterborough) Limited, a joint venture between Peterborough City 

Council and the Norse Group  will provide some capacity on estates management in the 

interim via a pre procured estates framework. One option considered in Spring this year 

was for NPS (Peterborough) Limited to be commissioned to write the replacement Asset 

Management Strategy however this was held with the onset of the Covid 19 pandemic.  

 

1.11 The pandemic has made us look differently at how we utilise assets and will continue to do 

so for some months yet. The South Holland Centre and Ayscoughfee Museum for example 

remain closed to the public, parts of the leisure offer at the Castle site remain closed and if 

open operating in a different way to ensure Covid Compliance. At the height of the 

pandemic through late Spring/ early Summer months the cemetery was closed, children’s 

play equipment out of use, changing facilities and pavilions closed and one way systems 

came into being in town centres.  The Priory Road offices were closed to the public from 

24th March to 7th September and open now on a scaled back basis.  

 

1.12 Priority investment now in Priory Road has shifted to increasing ventilation and that picture 

is mirrored across certain other council assets. The pandemic has not only brought with it a 

level of uncertainty and a need to introduce new approaches to occupancy and adaptation 

it has meant investment priorities have had to change. The decision to progress with the 

building of up to 15,000sqft of new industrial units at Crease Drove in Crowland for 

example, to some extent depends on the anticipated market demand for these. It is difficult 

to ascertain levels of demand at this time with few commercial property lettings having 

taken place over the past 6months. The Council has planning consent but the tender 

process for a building contractor was paused in March when the pandemic struck. 

 

 

Page 29



 

 

1.13 Following a review of the management and letting of the Councils commercial portfolio a 

number of recommended changes to the 2005 Lettings Policy have been identified to 

enable more effective management of the industrial units. A new policy is proposed details 

of which are set out in this report. 

 

2.0  Replacing the 2005 Lettings Policy :- 

 

           The current Lettings Policy, adopted in 2005, has a number of constraints which needed to 

be addressed to ensure that a policy reflects the Council’s current corporate priorities and 

reflects modern commercial practices for letting commercial properties held for investment 

purposes. To not do so will continue to constrain officers letting commercial property on 

terms reflective of modern practices and have a detrimental impact on the value of the 

Council’s commercial property assets and income derived from its commercial assets.  

 

 The Council’s approved budget assumes through the granting of new leases on modern 

commercial terms that the income derived from these commercial assets will increase 

through the medium term. Allowing for more flexible shorter and longer term leases, the 

new policy provides for, will offer existing and prospective future tenants more flexibility to 

match lease terms with individual business needs. This is good for the Council and good for 

local businesses.      

 

2.1  The new Policy represents a change of approach to letting our industrial estates, providing 

a policy which better aligns with current commercial practices and providing greater 

flexibility to negotiate across a wider range of lease terms. The main areas that will change 

with the new policy are : 

 

 The existing 2005 policy states that all leases will be contracted in to Part II of the 
Landlord and Tenant Act 1954, thus offering security of tenure.  The Act provides the 
tenant the automatic right to renew the lease even if the landlord does not wish them to 
do so. The proposal is that all new leases will be excluded from the provisions of Part II 
of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954 hence tenants will no longer have an automatic 
right to renew their lease. This will ensure that at the end of the term the council can 
recover the asset or grant a new lease if it chooses to do so.  

 

 The existing 2005 policy provides a primary focus on letting units to start-up businesses 
especially in the non-food related industries.  Whilst the Council is supportive of start-up 
business it does not want a lettings policy that constrains it. The proposed new policy 
seeks to address this by not placing such constraints on new lettings. It will be more 
important than ever as we move through and beyond the Covid 19 pandemic that the 
council has policies that provide it with flexibility to let to a wider range of potential 
tenants on terms that are flexible and reflecting modern commercial practices. An 
example is the recovery of expenditure incurred on individual estates adopting the 
principles of a recovery via a service charge. The proposed new lettings policy will do 
this and from it will no doubt be a more solid relationship with tenants who will be 
paying for future repairs and maintenance on their units and across the estate on 
account. The council, as Landlord, in return will undertake the work, which may have 
been requested by tenants, in the knowledge that it can be paid for. 

 

 The existing 2005 policy restricts the use of the units to a B1 (Light Industrial)/B2 
(General Industrial)/B8 (Warehouse) use class as defined by the Town and Country 
(Use Classes) Order 1987. As market conditions change and as a response to Covid no 
doubt, flexibility to let units to a wide range of tenants will be key to being able to 
respond to market demand whilst maintaining budgeted income levels. The proposed 

Page 30



 

 

new lettings policy will do this, subject of course to the grant of planning consent, where 
necessary. 

 

 The current 2005 policy states that a three year term is agreed on all new lettings. This 
is not modern practice. Commercial landlords must be able to negotiate with 
prospective tenants based on a range of terms which can flex to suit the market 
interest. Some tenants will require longer terms, others easy in and easy out terms and 
we should capture these and provide an estate which is dynamic and provides a range 
of opportunities for tenants. This may also include stepped rents, a method commonly 
adopted where tenants generally pay less in say year 1 but slightly above market rent in 
year 2 to compensate so over the term of the lease the same total amount of rent is 
paid its’ just that it is received in a phased and stepped way. This will also allow the 
Council better opportunities than it currently has to adopt a strategic approach to 
managing its commercial property assets. A good example would be aligning the expiry 
of leases in one specific block or where existing tenants want short term grow on space.  
The proposed new lettings policy will do all of this.  

 

2.2 Overall a more commercial focus is required for the lettings policy to ensure that the council 
is maximising their income potential as well as satisfying the needs of the market, the 
needs of the local businesses and responding quickly to changes in demand for these units 
in future years. There is a need for flexibility in the policy to ensure that the policy stays fit 
for purpose without the need for constant review. Constraining the policy too tightly would 
mean it couldn’t easily respond to changing market conditions without a substantial rewrite. 

 
2.3  Throughout the process of reviewing the policy a number of key principles were followed :  
 

 The document needs to be simple and relatively high level so that it can be flexible / 
resilient to future changes. 
 

 It should provide clear guidance for the Asset Management Team (and any other 
related teams) within the Council for the basis on how commercial property can be let 
and with it comes a new precedent lease to create more uniformity of terms upon which 
units are let.  

 

 It will enable Asset officers to take account of a prospective tenant where it is clear they 
generate additional “social value” for example through promoting local jobs or charitable 
causes or skills enhancement. The proposed new policy will provide for circumstances 
whereby additional concessions could be made to a tenant if deemed appropriate be 
this additional rent free, capital contributions towards fit out, limiting repairing 
obligations and reduced rents. 

 
2.4 The revised policy which is being recommended for approval, meets the requirements 

listed above. The key changes to the policy following review are as follows. A number of 
these are new and all reflect modern commercial practice when letting commercial 
property. 

 

Implementation of a Service Charge -  Service charges are levied to cover the 
maintenance and repair of the common parts 
of the estate and the external parts of the units 
(but not exhaustively). For certain properties 
service charges may not be applicable in 
which case other provisions will be put in place 
for the recovery of expenditure for example 
through inclusive rents.   

Page 31



 

 

 

Flexibility around Lease Term Different tenants have differing requirements 
around length of lease. To respond to as many 
enquiries as possible It is necessary to have 
flexibility to enable shorter and longer term 
leases to be granted. 

Flexibility around Use Class – Not restricting 
ourselves to the current B1/B2/B8 uses for 
industrial units 

As market conditions change, so does the 
potential use of the council’s commercial 
portfolio. It is important that we are flexible in 
the types of business that we grant leases to. 
All changes of use will be subject to planning 
permission, and landlord’s written consent. 
 

Following a more commercial approach in 
terms of repairing liability and statutory 
regulations 
 

Ensuring that our leases are, where 
circumstances allow, on an effective Full 
Repairing and Insuring basis, with tenants 
taking on greater commitments around 
statutory compliance than existing leases 
provide. 

Leases are contracted outside the provisions 
of Part II of the Landlord and Tenant Act 1954  
 

This will ensure that at the end of the term the 
council, as Landlord, can recover the asset if it 
wishes do so.  Alternatively the council can 
grant a new lease to the tenant on new terms. 

The introduction of a new precedent lease for 
industrial units, thus providing a new standard 
form of agreement, reflecting modern 
commercial and legal practice. 

The use of a precedent lease will enable the 
council to ensure that its commercial property 
assets are let using a modern standard 
commercial lease form, a form prospective 
tenants who have leased property previously 
will be familiar with. The new lease reflects the 
most recent legislative changes and 
commercial practice. 
 

Yield Up - A schedule of dilapidations will be 
undertaken by the Council prior to the 
termination of the tenancy, outlining the items 
of disrepair the tenant is responsible for 
remedying. 

This places the emphasis on the tenant to 
hand back the asset in a good condition. At 
present these costs are classed as void costs. 
The new Lettings Policy should stop this falling 
as a cost to the council.  

 

3.0 Delegations 

It is recommended that in addition to the approval of the Lettings Policy, officers delegation 

is amended as set out below:  

Current Delegation Recommended revised 

wording 

Page 32



 

 

Asset and Property 

Manager 

Technical Project 

Co-Ordinator  

Industrial 

Units (mini 

factory 

units) – 

Tenancies   

Cabinet Grant industrial unit 

tenancies which 

meet the lettings 

criteria of general or 

light industrial use 

and make 

determinations, in 

accordance with the 

approved policy, in 

respect of:  the level 

of rent deposit 

payable, any rent 

free period to be 

granted, and any 

discount to be 

granted for additional 

units 

To grant industrial unit 

tenancies which meet the 

lettings criteria and make 

determinations, in 

accordance with the 

approved policy. 

 

4.0      REPLACEMENT LETTING POLICY OPTIONS 

 

4.1 To note the contents of this report and support the proposed basis for letting industrial units 

as set out in this report and the proposed amendment to the delegation – The new policy 

replacing the 2005 adopted policy will provide officers with a stronger and more flexible 

basis to manage the industrial units effectively, and maximise income potential. – This 

Option is recommended 

 

4.2 To do nothing – The current policy is out dated, does not reflect current market terms and 

does not meet the strategic aims of the Council. It is recommended that the policy is 

renewed in order to effectively let and manage the council’s industrial units. 

 

4.3 To seek a rewrite of the draft Policy referred to in this report and the report to be 

presented again to Panel – The new policy reflects modern commercial practices and has 

been drafted on this basis. A rewrite and reference back to Panel would mean a delay in it 

being implemented.  

 

5.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 

 

5.1 The policy is simple and relatively high level. Officer delegations to be updated to allow 

officers more flexibility for negotiating terms on behalf of the Council, on commercial terms 

that reflect current market practice   

 

5.2 Due to the simplicity of the policy, it is resilient to future changes, therefore reduces the 

requirement for constant review.  

 

5.3 The new precedent lease format which will be familiar to those who have leased property in 

the private sector. 
 

6.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS OF THE REPLACEMENT LETTINGS POLICY 

 

Page 33



 

 

6.1 By agreeing to greater flexibility i.e. contracting out of the provisions of Part II of the 

Landlord and Tenant Act 1954, it will remove the tenant’s right to automatically renew their 

lease. By doing so, an opportunity then arises, on expiry, for the Council to grant a new 

lease in line with new market conditions, as determined, at that time. 

 

6.2 An new precedent lease, reflecting the terms of the Lettings Policy, ensures a commonality 

of approach when letting industrial units and up to date commercial practices and legal 

position. 

 

6.3 The recommended replacement lettings policy will provide for greater flexibility for Officers 

to negotiate the best terms for that asset at that time, rather than through the existing policy 

which constrains such flexibility.  

 

6.4 The introduction of a service charge will cover the maintenance and repair of the common 

parts of the estate and the external parts of the units (but not exhaustively). This will allow 

the council to recover costs for the upkeep of the buildings and common parts. 

 

6.5 Clarifying and defining roles and responsibilities in terms of exit arrangements and tenants 

statutory obligations. 

 

7.0       IMPLICATIONS 

 

In preparing this report, the following implications have been considered. Crime & Disorder;        

Data Protection; Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Health & Wellbeing; Risk 

Management; Safeguarding; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation 

Programme; Other. Consideration to the below headings have been made. 

 

7.1 Constitutional & Legal 

 

The Council will let industrial units in accordance with sound legal principles and with 

standard forms of lease documents to provide consistency of approach across the estates.  

 

7.2  Corporate Priorities 

 

7.2.1 Providing a policy which allows officer’s greater flexibility to negotiate and conclude terms 

on a more commercial basis will help ensure that the anticipated increase in income can be 

realised and tenant compliance can be better managed. In addition, common costs of 

operating estates will be shared between tenants rather than falling on the Council.  

 

7.2.2 Granting officer’s flexibility to negotiate and conclude terms on a more commercial basis 

provides prospective tenants and officers with greater flexibility and choice in order to tailor 

the offer to suit both the needs of the customer and the Council. 

 

7.3 Staffing 

 

No staffing implications associated with the approval of this Policy. A consistent approach and 

improved clarity of who is responsible for what aspects of the management of the estates 

should have a positive impact by allowing officers the flexibility to negotiate and conclude 

terms in line with the current market conditions and build stronger relationships with tenants .  

 

Page 34



 

 

7.4      Financial 

 

Future budget setting will need to reflect the policy that Members adopt, particularly where 

it relates to the recovery of estate costs on individual assets for example grounds 

maintenance, repair and future investment in assets. 

 

Background papers:-  

 

None 

 

Lead Contact Officer 

Name and Post: Anita Goddard-Gill – Interim Assets and Property Services Manager 

Telephone Number  

Email: AnitaGoddard-Gill@sholland.gov.uk 

 

Key Decision: N 

 

Exempt Decision: N  

 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service / Discretionary Service  

 

Appendices attached to this report:  

Appendix A 2005 Lettings Policy  

Appendix B Proposed replacement Lettings Policy 

 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

September 2020 

Letting and management of the South Holland District Council’s commercial 
property assets 

Replaces 2005 policy 

Executive Summary 

This policy is to replace the letting and management of the Council’s portfolio of 
industrial property adopted in 2005.  

Key Points 

 The purpose of the industrial units is to encourage the growth of both new and 
existing local businesses in line with the council’s Asset Management Strategy. 

 The units are let mainly for light industrial use and tenants’ businesses need to 
comply with all statutory requirements including the appropriate planning 
classification. 

 Tenants may in some cases be permitted to apply to widen the planning use of a 
unit. For example a tenant could apply to for B1, B2, B8 and D1 use; however 
tenants will not be permitted to narrow the planning classification of a unit for 
example to another non-industrial use. 

 The terms of new leases are determined by the Asset Management Team on 
commercial terms with the lease term to be subject to negotiation however 
ordinarily for a term of 3 years. 

 A service charge is levied to cover the maintenance and repair of the common 
parts of the estate and the external parts of the units (but not exhaustively).  

 Leases have an ‘effective’ full repairing and insuring liability. Tenants are 
responsible for internal repairs and for those elements not covered by the service 
charge. 

 Ordinarily the landlord will be responsible for external repairs with the costs 
recharged to the tenant via the service charge. 

 Statutory testing relating to internal FM to be the responsibility of the tenant 
statutory testing for external items to be the responsibility of the landlord with the 
costs recharged to the tenant via the service charge.  

 The council insures the buildings and recharges the tenants. Contents’ insurance 
cover is the responsibility of the tenant. 

 Rent, business rates, utilities’ costs and any other related outgoings are payable 
by the tenant. 

 Leases are outside the provisions of the Landlord and Tenant 1954 Act, i.e. the 
tenants have no statutory renewal rights. 

 Non-structural alterations are permitted subject to landlord’s consent (not to be 
unreasonably withheld). If relatively minor, a standard letter licence should be 

Page 37



 

 

used to document alterations, alternatively the matter will be documented in a 
licence to alter. 

 Except in exceptional circumstances structural alterations will not be permitted 
and in those cases they will be subject to the landlord’s consent, which is not to 
be unreasonably withheld. 

 Tenants will be permitted to assign leases subject to landlord’s consent.  

 Subletting in whole or part is to be prohibited. 

 Application forms need to be completed by prospective tenants and their financial 
suitability tested. 

 Rent arrears are pursued in accordance with the Debt Recovery policy. 

Marketing 

Ordinarily external agents will be instructed to market vacant units. “To Let” boards will 
be erected and advertising undertaken on the Council's website and in the local media 
as necessary. 

New Applicants 

All applicants are asked to provide a bank reference and two trade references. 
Applicants, who have an existing business, are required to provide three years’ audited 
accounts and a landlord's reference.  

Tenants are ordinarily required to pay a rent deposit, equal to at least three months’ 
rent, which will be held by the Council and used if the tenant defaults on rent, service 
charge (or other payment due) or to offset any dilapidations liability at lease expiry. 

Rent and incentives 

Rents are generally on an open market rent (ERV) basis. The rent levels are reviewed 
as specified in leases, but generally on a three-yearly review pattern. A rent-free period, 
either as an incentive or in lieu of fit-out works can be granted by the Asset 
Management Team where appropriate. 

Agreeing a new lease 

A standard form of lease will be drawn up and will be replicated for each new letting so 
amendments can be kept to a minimum and legals can be completed quickly and 
economically. It will be reviewed on a regular basis to ensure it reflects the most recent 
legislative changes, commercial practice and strategic aims of the Council. 

Yield up 

A schedule of dilapidations will be undertaken by the Council prior to the termination of 
the tenancy, outlining the items of disrepair the tenant is responsible for remedying. 

Rent Arrears  

The Council has a corporate Debt Policy and a Write-Off Policy which are complied with 
in dealing with tenant arrears. Management of tenant arrears includes the following: 

Page 38



 

 

 Liaising with Accounting Services and where appropriate agreeing a strict 
timetable for the repayment of arrears. 

 Using Commercial Rent Arrears Recovery (CRAR). This legislation means that 7 
days’ notice needs to be served on the tenant prior to enforcement agents being 
instructed to distrain upon goods. CRAR only applies to principal rent, VAT and 
interest (it cannot be used to pursue unpaid service charges or rates). 

Implementation and review 

 The Asset Management Team is responsible for implementing this policy and 
for its regular review. 

 The Council has the right to vary any of the above guidelines in line with their 
current strategic aims and legislation. 

 

Policy Approval Reviewed by and Approved 

Policy Development Panel  

Cabinet  

 

Related Policies and Strategies 

Asset Management Strategy 

Corporate Debt Recovery Policy  

Write-off Policy 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



Page 41



Page 42



Page 43



Page 44



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Report of: Christine Marshall, Executive Director - Commercialisation (S151 Officer) 

  

To: Policy Development Panel 15th September 2020, Cabinet 27th October 2020. 

 

Author: Phil Stacey, Housing Options Manager 

 

Subject Empty Homes Strategy 

 

Purpose: To consider a revised strategy, targeting long term empty properties and 

increasing the supply of homes brought back into use.  

 

 
Recommendation(s):  
 
1) That the panel consider the revised Empty Homes Strategy, provide feedback and approve 

the Strategy to go to Cabinet.  
 
 

 

BACKGROUND  

 

1.1 The number of empty homes in South Holland is monitored closely to ensure reasonable 

steps are taken to bring properties back into use. The Council’s current Empty Homes 

Strategy requires updating to take account of changes in legislation including Council Tax 

reforms. An incremental empty homes premium has been approved which introduced 

higher charges for long term empty homes. The Empty Homes Strategy will cover the 

Council’s overarching objectives with a clear link to the Private Sector Housing 

Enforcement Policy.   

 

1.2 The number of empty homes in South Holland has seen an upward trend in recent years 

which is common across other Lincolnshire authorities. However, the overall number of 

empty homes in South Holland remains low and accounts for 0.93% of dwellings in the 

district. 

1.3 The Empty Homes Strategy has been revised to deliver the following aims; 

 Reduce the number of long term empty homes (residential properties), and increase 
housing supply in South Holland by bringing them back into use 

 Minimise the number of properties becoming long term empty (six months plus) by 
identifying them early and working with owners as soon as possible 

 Provide a contact point and resource for owners of empty properties 

 Work in partnership with other agencies to tackle the problem of empty properties. 
 
1.4 The Empty Homes Strategy is intended to ensure the council can continue to provide 

advice, guidance and assistance to owners of long term empty homes. The Council seeks 
to work in partnership with owners, utilising a range of tools to encourage homes to be 
brought back into use. It is recognised that on occasion this may not be possible and the 
council may seek a remedy which utilises its enforcement powers. The council will have 
regard to the Empty Homes Strategy and follow the Private Sector Housing Enforcement 
Policy where instances of this type occur  

Page 45

Agenda Item 10.



 

2.0 OPTIONS 

 

2.1 Consider the revised Empty Homes Strategy and approve the strategy for submission to 

Cabinet (preferred). 

 

2.2 Do not approve the Strategy for submission to Cabinet.  

 

2.3 Propose amendments to the Strategy for submission to Cabinet. 

 

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 

 

3.1 The Council seeks to adopt a responsive approach to tackling long term empty homes. 

Bringing homes back into use is vitally important to increase the supply of accommodation 

available within the district. Whilst it is acknowledged that regionally there has been an 

increase in the number of empty homes, overall the number of empty homes in South 

Holland remain comparably low. It is therefore considered that the aims and measures 

within the revised strategy are proportionate and sustainable.  

 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 

 

4.1 Greater clarity for owners on the assistance available from the council in supporting them to 

bring their property back into use.  

 

4.2 An increase in the supply of available homes into the district.  

 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1  Constitution & Legal 
 
5.1.1  If enforcement action is considered necessary there would be legal implications in taking 

these matters forward. 
 
5.2   Corporate Priorities 
 
5.2.1 There is a strong link to the Council’s corporate priorities under ‘Your Home’. Particular 

emphasis is given to the following critical activity: ‘Support the supply and suitability of 
private sector accommodation by reducing the number of empty homes in the district and 
providing targeted financial support to allow people to stay in their homes.’  

 
5.3 Crime and Disorder  
 
5.3.1  There is a link to the condition of empty homes which concerns vandalism, overgrown 

gardens and infestations. Addressing the issue of long term empty properties should 
contribute to wider efforts to address and reduce anti-social behaviour.  

 
5.4 Financial  
 
5.4.1 Bringing empty Homes back into use contributes towards income, including the  New 

Homes Bonus and Council Tax receipts. 
 

Page 46



5.4.2 In the last financial year 2019/20; the total New Homes Bonus for South Holland was 
£341,311. 

 
5.4.3 Up to January 2020, there were 107 properties subject to the 200% Council Tax premium. 
 
5.5  Health & Wellbeing 
 
5.5.1 There is a positive link between increasing the supply of housing, along with investing into 

the condition of private housing in the district. Bringing properties back into use can help 
regenerate and improve areas where people live and work that contribute to the wider 
health and wellbeing agenda.  

 
5.6 Risk Management  
 
5.6.1 If a suitable strategy is not adopted, the authority misses the opportunity to bring back 

much needed accommodation into use in the district and runs the risk of increased anti-
social behaviour, vandalism and a deterioration in the areas where an empty home exists. 
 

5.6.2 There are risks to the authority associated with certain courses of action designed to bring 
Empty homes back into use. For example, the use of non-mandatory enforcement powers 
(Such as Compulsory Purchase or Empty Dwelling Management Orders) carry with them 
certain degrees of financial risk. However, decisions to utilise these powers will be made on 
a case by case basis and will only be considered where enforcement action is deemed as 
the last option available to the authority to bring a dwelling back into use per the Council’s 
enforcement policy. 

 
5.7     Staffing 
 
5.7.1 Currently, empty homes activities are undertaken across the Private Sector Housing Team.  

 
6.0  WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

 

6.1      All wards 

 

7. ACRONYMS 

 

7.1.1 N/A. 

 

Background papers: - Private Sector Housing Enforcement Policy 

 

Lead Contact Officer 

Name and Post: Phil Stacey Housing Options Manager 

Telephone Number  

Email: philstacey@sholland.gov.uk 

 

Key Decision: N  

 

Exempt Decision: N  

 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service   

 

Appendices attached to this report: 

 

Page 47



Appendix A: SHDC Empty Homes Strategy 

 

Appendix B: Main Statutory Enforcement Options 

 

 

Page 48



 

South Holland District Council           Empty Homes Strategy Date 17/03/20               1 

PPOOLLIICCYY  TTIITTLLEE  

 
Empty Homes Strategy 
 

REVISION DATE 

 
17.03.2020 
 

REPLACES STRATEGY 

  
Empty Homes 2006 Strategy 
 

STRATEGY AIM 

 
This strategy aims to target owners of long term empty properties to increase the availability of 
properties to rent or buy and regenerate the area. 
 
In particular, we will aim to: 
 

 Reduce the number of long term empty homes (residential properties), and increase 
housing supply in South Holland by bringing them back into use 

 Minimise the number of properties becoming long term empty (six months plus) by 
identifying them early and working with owners as soon as possible 

 Provide a contact point and resource for owners of empty properties 

 Work in partnership with other agencies to tackle the problem of empty properties. 
 
 

STRATEGY STATEMENT 

 
 

WHAT IS AN EMPTY PROPERTY? 
 
There is no recognised definition of empty property and they are not always easy to identify. Empty 
properties can take on several forms: 
 

 the property previously in residential use, such as a flat or house  

 flats above shops which are not in use – possibly as there is no separate access to the 
upper levels of the shop, or because the lease arrangements for the buildings are not 
favourable to renting the accommodation out 

 Unused and hard to let office space, where the potential of developing or renting the space 
as residential has not been considered. 

 
There are several reasons why properties become empty. These include: 
 

 Transitional empty properties pending a change of owner 

 Owners not being aware or understanding the options available to bring properties back 
into use 

 Properties which are left empty by the resident moving into residential care 

 Properties where the owner has died and the estate is awaiting the appropriate 
Legal action 

 perceived problems with renting the property 

 Extensive maintenance problems combined with the low value of the property 

 Owners awaiting an upturn in the market. 
 
 

Page 49



 

South Holland District Council           Empty Homes Strategy Date 17/03/20               2 

THE WIDER PICTURE 
 
The Council’s key priorities for housing are:  
 

 Ensure that our residents are enabled to live in high-quality housing no matter the 
tenure. 

 Support the supply and suitability of private sector accommodation by reducing the 
number of empty homes in the district and providing targeted financial support to 
allow people to stay in their homes. 

 
 
MONITORING OUR PERFORMANCE 
 
The Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) currently requires all Local 
Authorities to declare the number of empty properties brought back into use or demolished as a 
result of action taken by the Council. The numbers of Empty Homes are reported to Performance 
Monitoring Panel. 
 
SOLUTIONS TO THE PROBLEM 
 
Empty property Database 
 
We will identify long term empty properties through our Council Tax section who already maintain a 
database of these properties. This database includes all dwellings that have been left empty for six 
months or longer and it will be used to target the owners of these properties. Action taken by 
Council Tax will include contact by various methods. Where specific issues are identified, Council 
Tax will deploy its visiting officers. We will make use of both the Council Tax and the new Private 
Sector Northgate Assure systems to simplify and make use of data to both enable officers and 
owners to tackle any Empty Homes. 
 
Objective 1: To bring empty homes back into use using a range of advice, assistance and 

support.  

As described above; Council Tax will provide advice and support to homeowners if necessary; this 

will include annotating bills once Council Tax premium levels are reached to enable homeowners 

to make contact to resolve their situation. Once there is confirmation that the property is a true long 

term empty home, with the owner’s agreement, the Private Sector Housing Team will then 

determine the best course of action to bring the property back into use. Advice and guidance are 

available for all empty homeowners in the District on our website to highlight what the Council can 

offer. There is also a dedicated email address for anyone in the district to report an Empty Homes. 

The different types of advice or assistance available are as follows:-  

 Advice on selling/renting the empty property  

The Private Sector Housing Team can offer advice on local estate agents, lettings agents or 

auctioneers who can assist in the sale or letting of the property. The Private Sector Housing Team 

can also inspect the property and assess it according to the Housing Health and Rating System. 

The Officer will then be able to give the necessary advice as to what the health and safety risks are 

and how these can be rectified.  

 Develop partnership grants  

The Council currently offers grants to empty homeowners to enable them to complete repairs on 

their property or deal with issues such as garden and house clearances so they can bring the 

property back into use.  

 Consider Developing a Private Sector Leasing Scheme  

Page 50



 

South Holland District Council           Empty Homes Strategy Date 17/03/20               3 

A Private Sector Leasing Scheme is where a Council can enter into a lease with a private landlord. 

The Council will then use the property as an affordable decent home for local households who face 

homelessness.  

 Consider a Tenant Finder Scheme  

To consider a scheme to assist the owner of an empty property through the lettings process whilst 

providing good quality homes for residents who need somewhere to live. The scheme will guide 

the empty homeowner through the process of letting their property and assist with finding suitable 

tenants through our Housing Options Team.  

Signpost to energy efficiency partner agents  

The council will look to signpost about the available public grants that they may be eligible for, to 

bring the property up to a suitable standard.  

Objective 2: To use enforcement action to bring long term, problematic empty homes back 

into use.  

The Council has many Regulatory powers that it can utilise to address the impact an empty 

property has on neighbours and the local area. With the legislation available the Council can serve 

a notice on the homeowner to ensure that these issues are addressed and in, turn, encourage the 

owner to bring the property back into use.  

Where all attempts of intervention have failed or if there is an immediate risk to health or 

safety, the Private Sector Housing Team will consider several enforcement options that 

are available to them. These options include Compulsory Purchase Orders, Empty 

Dwelling Management Orders and Enforced Sale.  

 Compulsory Purchase Orders – Housing Act 1985 Section 17  

When other attempts to work with the empty homeowner has failed, the Council can 

compulsory purchase a property as a last resort. The Council has to prove that it is in the 

public interest to bring the property back into use and that they have the resources to see 

the CPO through. In making an application for a CPO, the Council must show what their 

intention for the property is and that they have made all other attempts to bring the 

property back into use. This is not a quick process and it can take many months to 

complete. The owner of a compulsory purchased property may be entitled to 

compensation for the loss at a level equivalent to the open market value.  

 Empty Dwelling Management Orders (EDMOs) – Housing Act 2004  

EDMOs allow local authorities to take management control of certain empty properties for 

initially up to 1 year (under an interim EDMO) and then up to 7 years (under a final 

EDMO). Under an interim EDMO, the Council can only grant tenancies with the 

permission of the owner, but under a final EDMO, the owner’s consent is not required. 

The local authority must apply to the First-Tier Tribunal (Property Chamber) for an EDMO. 

The Property Chamber must be satisfied that there is no reasonable prospect that the 

property will be reoccupied shortly without the imposition of the EDMO and that there is 

an element of “nuisance” being caused by the property. The Property Chamber will take 

into account the interests of the community and the effect the order will have on the rights 

of the relevant proprietor and may have on third parties. There are, however, certain 

properties that are exempt from an EDMO. These include:  

 Second homes  

 Holiday lets  

Page 51



 

South Holland District Council           Empty Homes Strategy Date 17/03/20               4 

 Flats and houses normally occupied by students  

 The owner is in prison  

 The owner is receiving or giving care  

 The owner is in the armed forces  

 The relevant proprietor is temporarily residing elsewhere 

 The property is on the market for sale or let 

 Enforced Sale – Law of Property Act 1925 

A local authority has a right to sell a property where, acting under statutory power, the 

Council has had to incur costs as a result of works it has taken in default. Provided such 

costs are capable of being deemed a charge against the property, then a power of sale 

arises in favour of the Council. For example, if the owner has large council tax debts and 

has failed to make payments to clear these arrears then the Council can consider an 

Enforced Sale. It must be noted though that the owner must have debts owed to the 

Council which are sufficient enough to warrant enforcement action. However, before such 

a power can be exercised, the Council must serve a formal notice on the owner 

demanding payment of the monies owed. If the payment still outstands after the service of 

the notice, then the Council can proceed to sell the property. 

 
Other Enforcement Action 
 
Where an empty property is causing a nuisance or is affecting a neighbouring property, we will 
make use of current legislation to minimise the nuisance caused whilst we try to bring the property 
back into use. We can seek to secure the property and make the owner take action where it is 
unsafe or it is adversely affecting the amenity of an area through its disrepair. 
 
Principles of Enforcement 
 
The overriding principle of Enforcement and that which has been adopted by South Holland District 
Council is contained within the Enforcement Concordat issued by the former Office of the Deputy 
Prime Minister.  Any enforcement action that is taken has to be in the best interests of the public 
and will be per SHDC’s Corporate Enforcement Policy. Underpinning this are the four principles of 
enforcement which are: 
 

 proportionality – the degree of enforcement action taken should be proportional to the risk 
involved 

 consistency – officers should take a similar approach in similar circumstances to achieve 
similar outcomes 

 transparency – making sure that our role is clear to Businesses, Employees and 
Customers and that any advice is given or action taken by enforcement officers is 
understood 

 Targeting – inspection priorities are aimed at highest risk areas and we identify those 
responsible for controlling those risks. 

 
In general, our ethos is to work in partnership with owners of empty properties. However, where 
owners do not co-operate, enforcement action will be taken.  
 
Objective 3: To better understand why homes are being left empty in the District and where 
possible, prevent homes from becoming empty for long periods. 
 

Page 52



 

South Holland District Council           Empty Homes Strategy Date 17/03/20               5 

As well as bringing empty homes back into use, the Council wants to stop properties becoming 
long term empty in the first place, or reduce the time they are empty. Advice and guidance will be 
sent out with letters by Council Tax to empty homeowners approaching the six months and two-
year empty date. This will open communication with empty homeowners and reduce long term 
empties in the district. Options to open up self-service access, via the Councils website, will be 
explored as part of the ongoing digitalization of Housing Services, 
 
Unoccupied and unfurnished properties are entitled to 6 months exemption from Council Tax, after 
6 months, normal charges apply.  
 
SHDC has determined as part of its Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) to an additional 50% 
Council Tax premium on Long Term Empty properties, raising the Council Tax to 200%, from 1 
April 2019, an additional 100% Council Tax premium on Long Term Empty properties longer than 5 
years, raising the Council Tax to 300%, from 1 April 2020 and additional 100% Council Tax 
premium on Long Term Empty properties longer than 10 years, raising the Council Tax to 400%, 
from 1 April 2021. 
 

WHO IS AFFECTED BY THE POLICY? 

 
Owners and leaseholders of empty properties and homeless people within the South Holland 
district.   
 
 

IMPLEMENTATION 

 
The implementation of this policy will be carried out by the Housing Options team within Housing.  
The Housing Options Manager, and ultimately the Housing Landlord Services Manager, will be 
accountable for ensuring the policy is implemented effectively.   
 
However, for the policy to be effective, we recognise that it is necessary to adopt a corporate 
approach.  Services within the Council that will be involved are: 
 

 Communities Team 

 Planning & Development 

 Housing Options Team 

 Customer Services 

 Benefits and Revenues Team 
 
 

MONITORING 

 
The policy will be monitored in the following ways: 
 

MONITORING ACTIVITY PERSON RESPONSIBLE 

Check to see if the policy has been 
implemented effectively 

Housing Landlord Services Manager 

Review the Policy annually Housing Options Manager 

 
 

POLICY CONSULTATION 

 
 

POLICY APPROVAL 

 
This policy was approved by Cabinet on  

Page 53



 

South Holland District Council           Empty Homes Strategy Date 17/03/20               6 

 
 
 

RELATED POLICIES & STRATEGIES 

 
Housing Assistance Policy 
 

Page 54



Appendix B: Main Statutory Enforcement Options 

 

 Town & Country Planning Act 1990, Section 215: Where the condition of an empty home 

is detrimental to the amenity of the area. 

 Building Act 1984, Sections 77-79: Where an empty home is in such a condition to be 

dangerous or is seriously detrimental to the amenity or of the neighbourhood. 

 Building Act 1984, Section 59: Where the condition of the drainage to a building is 

prejudicial to health or a nuisance. 

 Environmental Protection Act 1990, Section 80: Where a statutory nuisance exists, is 

likely to occur or recur at the property. 

 Prevention of Damage by Pests Act 1949, Section 4: Applied where the condition of the 

property is such that it is providing or likely to provide harbourage to rodents. 

 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982, Section 29: Allows the 

Council to act if a property is open to unauthorised access and is a risk to public health. 

 Housing and Planning Act 2016, Part 7: Allows authorisation to be given for officers to 

enter land (and property on that land) in connection with a proposal to acquire compulsory 

interest in that land (and property on that land). 

 Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, Section 16; and Town & 

Country Planning Act 1990, section 330 – A notice may be served to establish 

information regarding property ownership or interests in land. 

 Housing Act 1985 Section 17 and the Acquisition of Land Act 1981: Forms the basis 

for the compulsory purchase of land/buildings for the provision of housing accommodation. 

 Housing Act 2004 Part 4: Grants powers to take over the management of a property using 

Empty Dwelling Management Orders (EDMO). 

 Law of Property Act 1925, Part III: The basis for enforced sale where certain debts are 

owed to the Local Authority. 

 The Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, Part 4: Allows for 

enforcement of matters considered to be detrimental to the quality of life to those in the 

locality. 

 Public Health Act 1961 Section 34: Deals with the removal of waste from property or 

land. 

 Public Health Act 1936 Section 83: Deals with the cleansing of filthy or verminous 

premises. 

 Housing Act 2004 Part 1: Housing conditions, improvements and enforcement. 

 

Note – this is not an exhaustive list 

 

Page 55



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Housing and Health and  Executive Director - 

Commercialisation (S151) 

  

To: Policy Development Panel Tuesday, 15 September 2020  

 Cabinet, 27 October 2020  

 

(Author: Vikki Cherry Housing Services Manager) 

 

Subject Tenancy Management Policy 

 

Purpose: To seek approval of the Tenancy Management Policy  

 

 
Recommendation(s):  
 

1) That the Panel provides any comments/observations that it may wish to make on the 
Policy, in readiness for its submission to the Cabinet.  

 

 

1.0 BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 South Holland District Council’s Housing Services Team manages approximately 4000 

properties. The Tenancy Management Policy sets out how we manage Introductory and 

Secure tenancies including: 

 Succession, assignment and mutual exchange 

 Right to buy 

 Joint tenancies 

 Relationship breakdown 

 Running a business from home 

 Sub-letting and lodgers 

 Gardens 

 Infestations 

 Keeping animals and pets 

 Anti-Social Behaviour    

 Access 

 Abandonment 

 Disabled aids and adaptations 

 Termination of tenancies  

 Rent and use and occupation accounts 

 Other breaches of tenancy 

 Decanting to alternative accommodation 

 Management of introductory tenancies 

 Monitoring tenancies and the condition of our properties 

 Safeguarding 

 Personal property and insurance 

 Tenancy fraud 
 

1.2 The introduction of a Tenancy Management Policy and supporting procedures will ensure a 

consistent and transparent approach is delivered, and will be a point of reference for 

Page 57

Agenda Item 11.



Officers to base decisions on.  Many items in the policy relate to items prescribed by 

housing legislation.  

 

1.3 In 2017, the council undertook a fundamental review of a number of Place based services. 

This included all teams within the Housing Service. The focus on the review was to 

 meet identified savings targets;  
 re-design services to address long-standing cultural and performance issues;  
 future proof the services so that they are well placed to meet service demands 
 ensure best value and high performance in the delivery of frontline services. 

 

A phased approach to these objectives has been delivered with the teams now able to 
move to further process, procedurally redesign and implement technological improvements.  

1.4 We have reviewed our approach to tenancy management to ensure that our procedures 
support our vulnerable tenants and take appropriate action against tenants who wilfully 
fail to manage their tenancy appropriately as per their tenancy terms and conditions.      

 

1.5 The Policy seeks to bring together the Council’s established working methods with 
current best practice and legislation.  
 

2.0 OPTIONS 

 

2.1 To support the Policy/Delegations for submission to Cabinet; or  

2.2 To support subject to comments/observations for consideration by Cabinet; or  

2.3 That we do nothing and continue to operate without policies in place. 
 

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 

 

3.1 To provide a policy on tenancy management to ensure consistency across the district and 

Housing Department.   

 

3.2 To set out the Council’s approach to tenancy management and provide a document that 

Officers and Members can refer to. 

 

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 

 

4.1 The introduction of this policy will ensure Officers have a policy to refer to, ensuring 

consistency across the district.  This provides reputational benefits whereby we take a 

firmer approach with tenants that have the ability to manage their tenancy successfully but 

choose not to.   

 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS 

 

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 

decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;  

Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 

Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 

Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; 

Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be 

implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below. 

 

Page 58



5.1 Constitutional & Legal 

 

5.1.1 Housing matters, including this policy, are executive functions and are therefore a matter 

for the Cabinet to determine. This policy has been reviewed by Housing solicitors, 

Capsticks. Many items in this policy are set by housing law, namely the Housing Act 1985, 

Housing Act 1996 and the Localism Act 2011.  

 

5.2 Corporate Priorities 

 

5.2.1 This policy supports the following corporate priorities: 

 Your home – mitigating and preventing homelessness by managing tenancies 
effectively, being a landlord of choice and supporting elderly people to stay in 
their home   

 Your place – managing estates within communities to ensure they are attractive 
places to visit, live and work  

 Your health and wellbeing – assessing vulnerable tenants regularly and referring 
to partner agencies to influence and lead early intervention activities to support, 
reduce and prevent complex needs. Delivering sustainable tenancies.  

 Our Council – ensuring that Officers report and manage concerns regarding 
safeguarding and modern day, making us a landlord of choice.  

 

5.3 Crime and Disorder 

 

5.3.1 This policy sets out the Council’s approach as a landlord to Anti-Social Behaviour and other 

tenancy breaches.    

 

5.3.2 We will support the police and other statutory agencies to take action against tenants 

where they have sufficient evidence to do so.  Upon criminal convictions being granted, we 

will consider additional enforcement action against the tenancy.    

 

5.3.3 The policy sets out our approach to tenancy fraud.   

 

5.4 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights 

 

5.4.1 Any action taken by the Council under the policy will be subject to all fundamental human 

rights obligations. An equality impact assessment will be completed to identify any potential 

Public Sector Equality Duty issues.   

 

5.4.2 Where we identify (or a customer advises us of) a vulnerability we will look to make 

reasonable adjustments to our services accordingly to meet the needs of those individuals. 

This may include altering the way we communicate with a customer to adjusting the service 

that we offer to that person. Each case will be judged on its individual merits to avoid a one 

size fits all approach.  

 

5.4.3 Tenants whose first language is not English may require additional support to ensure they 
fully understand the terms of their tenancy agreement. Copies of the letters will be 
translated upon request.  Officers have access to Language Line telephone translation 
when visiting tenants in their homes, and in the office.  
 

5.4.4 The Council is committed to providing a high quality aids and adaptations service to enable 

disabled tenants to live safely and more independently within their homes, through efficient 

management of resources and funding.    

Page 59



 

5.4.5 A tenant remains responsible for their garden regardless of their personal circumstances 

and is therefore expected to make suitable arrangements for the continued maintenance 

and upkeep. Officers will signpost tenants to agencies such as Citizens Advice for support 

in claiming disability benefits where they are not physically able to maintain their garden 

due to a disability and do not have a support network to assist. Tenants will also be offered 

a move to a property with a smaller garden.   

 

5.5 Health & Wellbeing 

 

5.5.1 Sustainable tenancies will support the health and wellbeing of residents of South Holland.  

 

5.5.2 Aids and adaptations to homes will enable disabled people to continue to live in their home. 

 

5.5.3 Where a tenant is hoarding, the Council will take a non-judgemental approach which 

balances the needs of the individual against the severity of the impact that their hoarding 

has on them, the property and neighbouring residents. We will work with partner agencies 

including Adult Services, the Mental Health Team and Fire Services to support tenants that 

hoard.   

 

5.5.4 The policy sets out our approach to infestations.  

 

5.6 Safeguarding 

 

5.6.1 Vulnerable households will be assessed regularly and referrals made to agencies for 

support. Safeguarding needs are regularly considered for tenants. Our approach will 

continue to be to support tenants to rectify tenancy breaches.   

 

5.6.2 We will continue to involve partner agencies and challenge them where we feel vulnerable 

households are not receiving the support they require.  We will support victims of Domestic 

Abuse and involve agencies to protect them.  We will also conduct risk assessments for 

tenancy enforcement and ASB cases to ensure reasonable adjustments are completed. We 

will work with partner agencies including Adult Services, the Mental Health Team and Fire 

Services to support tenants that hoard.   

 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

 

6.1 All wards are affected.  

 

7.0 ACRONYMS 

 

7.1 ASB – anti social behaviour  

 

Background papers:- None  

 

Lead Contact Officer 

Name and Post: Vikki Cherry Housing Services Manager 

Telephone Number 01775 764707 

Email: vcherry@sholland.gov.uk  

 

Key Decision: N  

Page 60



 

Exempt Decision: N  

 

This report refers to a Discretionary Service 

 

Appendices attached to this report:  

Appendix A - Tenancy Management Policy  

Page 61



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Housing Tenancy Management Policy 
 
Introduction 
The purpose of this document is to set out the Council’s overall approach to tenancy 
management.  The policy and underlying procedures will allow the Council to provide a 
service which reflects our statutory responsibilities and good practice.  The policy will also 
ensure tenancies are managed consistently across the district.   
 
The Council aims to deliver an efficient and effective housing management service and 
supports tenants to sustain their tenancies.  We acknowledge that some households will 
face difficulty in managing their responsibility for tenancy conduct and will assist vulnerable 
tenants to receive the support they need to sustain their tenancies. 

 SHDC manages a range of different tenures: 

 Introductory tenancies 

 Secure tenancies 

 Licenses (interim and temporary accommodation)  

 Shared Ownership leases  

 Garage licenses   

 Assured tenancies.  
 
Please note: reference to tenants relates to tenants and licensees.  Some aspects of this 
policy only relate to secure tenants – this will be highlighted in the relevant sections.   
 
The statutory framework for management of tenancies is set out in the following Acts: 

 The Housing Act 1985 - secure tenancies 

 The Housing Act 1988 - which provide legal grounds for seeking possession assured 
tenancies and shared ownership properties 

 The Housing Act 1996 - introductory tenancies, demoted tenancies and temporary 
accommodation. 

 
The Council must also pay regard to related legislation including the Protection from Eviction 
Act 1977, the Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014, Matrimonial Causes Act 
1973, Matrimonial and Family Proceedings Act 1984, Civil Partnership Act 2004, Prevention 
of Social Housing Fraud Act 2013, the Law of Property Act 1925, the General Data 
Protection Act 2018, GDPR, 2018, Freedom of Information Act 2000, Human Rights Act 
1998 and Equality Act 2010.  The County Court Civil Procedure Rules set out the 
requirements for making applications for possession.  
 
For the purposes of clarity, there may be some instances where the Council is duty bound to 
follow the law. In other instances, the Council may define its approach in policy. Examples 
may include but are not limited to, anti-social behaviour and the responsibility for trees and 
fencing.  
 
This policy should be read in conjunction with the Housing Income Management Policy and 
the Housing Repairs Policy.   
 
The overall strategic aim is to apply a firm but fair approach to managing tenancies, which 
takes account of individual tenant circumstances, and is sensitive to equality considerations 
including vulnerability, language spoken, age and literacy. 
 
The Council will provide advice and assistance or signpost tenants to partner agencies. We 
will engage with tenants to identify vulnerabilities at the earliest opportunity and will assist in 
identifying and securing appropriate support in order for tenants to sustain their tenancy.   
 

Page 63



2 
 

Management of introductory tenancies 
The Council operates an introductory tenancy scheme. Introductory tenancies are granted 
by the Council to all new tenants let properties through the Housing Register.  This is a trial 
period to ensure that the tenants are capable of complying with the terms of a tenancy for 
the introductory tenancy period. The period is normally 12 months although the Council can 
extend it by a further 6 months if tenancy breaches occur. A tenant can appeal any decision 
to extend.  
 
It is easier to evict an introductory tenant if they breach their tenancy. Introductory tenants do 
not have as many rights as secure tenants.  They cannot: 

 Make any improvements/alterations to the property  

 Have a lodger  

 Buy the property  

 Mutual exchange/swap the property.   
 
After the first 4 weeks, a Council housing officer will visit the property to complete a new 
tenant check.  Further checks are carried out at approximately 3 months and 8 months after 
the grant of the tenancy.  Failure to comply with tenancy checks will amount to a breach of 
tenancy. 
 
Where an introductory tenant is in breach of their tenancy, the Council may take action 
against the tenant. The Council can decide what action to take, but it could include:  

 sending the tenant a warning letter;  

 extending the introductory period;  

 serving a notice to end the introductory tenancy and/or a notice to quit 

 issuing possession proceedings. 
 
Succession, assignment and mutual exchange 
 
Succession 
Sometimes, on the death of the tenant, another person may be able to succeed to and take 
on the tenancy.  This can only occur when the tenancy allows for a succession. There are 
different rules for introductory and secure tenancies.  
 
There can only be one succession to a tenancy and no second successions will be 
permitted. 
 
A joint tenant will always succeed to the tenancy on the death of the other joint tenant, even 
if they are no longer occupying the property. In which case, the Council will serve the absent 
tenant a notice to quit as they have ceased to occupy the property as their only or main 
home. This will terminate the tenancy and the Council may issue possession proceedings. 
 
Where a tenancy was granted on or after 1st April 2012, a spouse, partner or cohabiting 
partner will be able to succeed to a tenancy if they occupied the property as their only or 
main home with the sole tenant (who was not themselves a successor) and at the time of 
their death.  
 
If the tenancy was granted before 1st April 2012 or is an introductory tenancy, a partner who 
is neither a spouse or a civil partner, will also have to show that they resided with the tenant 
as their only or main home for 12 months prior to their death. If the tenant was absent from 
the property because they were in hospital or a nursing home, or if they were not ‘partners’ 
for the duration of the 12 months, they will not be able to succeed. 
 
No other person will be entitled to succeed to a secure tenancy unless the tenancy 

Page 64



3 
 

agreement permits it. In the case of introductory tenancies, another family member (as 
defined by s140 of the Housing Act 1996) may be able to succeed to the introductory 
tenancy, provided that they resided at the property with the deceased as their only or main 
home for the 12 month’s preceding and at the time of the tenant’s death. If the 
accommodation is more extensive that is reasonably required by the family member, the 
Council may ask the successor to move to more suitable alternative property and, if 
necessary, take possession proceedings to enforce a move. Suitability of the 
accommodation will be considered in line with the Council’s Allocations and Lettings Policy.  
 
Applications to succeed to a tenancy shall be made to the Council on the succession form 
which can be provided on request. 
 
Where persons were occupying the property prior to death and cannot succeed, the Council  
may issue possession proceedings to regain possession and evict the occupiers.  The 
Council may require the occupiers to pay use and occupation charges equivalent to rent 
from the date of the expiry of the notice to quit until possession is given up.  Please see the 
‘Use and Occupation’ section for further information.  
 
Assignment 
Sometimes, tenancies can be transferred to another person. The Council will only permit 
assignments to: 

 Someone who is entitled under statute to succeed to the tenancy; 

 Where it has been ordered by the court in family or matrimonial proceedings; or 

 Where there is a mutual exchange (for secure tenancies only). 

 Where the tenancy agreement allows assignments.   

 Assignment is not possible under any other circumstances. 
 
It is not legally possible for one joint tenant to assign their tenancy to the remaining joint 
tenant (to create a sole tenancy).     
 
Mutual exchange 
Where the tenancy agreement allows, tenants are able to mutually exchange their tenancy 
with another tenant of a social housing property such as a Council or a housing association. 
A mutual exchange can only proceed with the consent of the Council and exchange 
partner’s landlord. There are two types of mutual exchange and which applies will depend on 
the types of tenancy held by the parties and when they were granted. 
 
The Council can only refuse to agree to a mutual exchange on specified grounds in the 
legislation that governs mutual exchanges (either the Housing Act 1985 or the Localism Act 
2011).  We will give or refuse consent within 42 days of the application to exchange being 
received.  
 
Conditional consent can be given in cases where there are breaches of tenancy, such as 
rent arrears or poor condition/damage to of the property.  The exchange cannot proceed 
until the breach of tenancy has been remedied.  Where appropriate, we will have regard to 
household members that have a disability as defined by the Equality Act 2010 - properties 
that have been adapted for medical reasons will not be let to households that do not require 
the adaptations.  
 
The original rights granted in tenancy agreements can be lost during mutual exchange, for 
example there may be different rules about succession, rent levels (higher or lower) and 
assignment, so tenants are advised to read tenancy agreements properly and take their own 
legal advice from a solicitor, Citizen’s Advice or legal advice centre before agreeing to an 
exchange. 

Page 65



4 
 

 
Depending on the type of tenancies held by the parties mutually exchanging, sometimes the 
properties are swapped but the tenancy continues and stays with the property being 
assigned to the new occupier. In other cases, a mutual exchange takes effect as a surrender 
of the existing tenancies, which brings them to an end and the tenants are granted 
comparable but new tenancies of the new property. 
 
Right to buy 
Secure tenants have the right to buy their home. A tenant can apply to buy their Council 
home if: 

 It is their main residence 

 It is self-contained 

 They have held a public sector tenancy (e.g. Landlord is a Council, housing 
association or NHS trust) for three years - it does not have to be three years in a row. 

 
Some properties are excluded from the Right to Buy, including: 

 Property designated for people over 60 years of age (as per Right to Buy legislation);  

 Property designated for people who have special needs or who are physically 
disabled 

 Properties within rural exception sites.   
 
The Council’s Legal Team processes Right to Buy applications.  The government has 
an official government right to buy website which tenants can check to see if they are eligible 
– www.righttobuy.gov.uk   
 
Joint tenancies 
A joint tenancy is a tenancy held by two or more persons and all joint tenants have all of the 
rights and must comply with all of the obligations of a tenancy agreement. For example, both 
joint tenants owe all of the rent, not 50% each, and are responsible for meeting that rent for 
as long as they remain a joint tenant, even if they have vacated the property. 
 
A breach of tenancy by one is the responsibility of all the tenants.  
 
A joint tenant can usually serve a notice to end a joint tenancy even without the knowledge 
or consent the other joint tenant. The tenancy will come to an end and both tenants will have 
to move out or the Council may issue possession proceedings to evict. 
 
The Council may grant a joint tenancy to spouses, civil partners and cohabiting partners. 
 
Inter-generational joint tenancies (e.g. parent and child, grandparent and child) will not be 
granted.   
 
Sole to Joint tenancy 
It is not legally possible for a sole tenant to ‘add’ a joint tenant to their tenancy. The Council 
may agree to a surrender of an existing sole tenancy where there has been no succession 
and a re-grant to the original tenant and a new joint tenant, but it is not obliged to do so.   
 
The Council can refuse to consent to a surrender and re-grant from sole to joint tenancy. 
Reasons for refusal include (but are not limited to) if: 

 There has been a previous succession to the tenancy or an assignment to a potential 
successor 

 There are outstanding rent arrears; 

 There is legal action being taken against the property including but not limited to a 
notice seeking possession has been served, an injunction is in force, a possession 

Page 66



5 
 

claim has been issued; a suspended possession order is in force; 

 The house would become overcrowded or under occupied; 

 The applicant is under 18 years old, unless it can be shown the joint tenancy is 
necessary for the minor; 

 The applicant would not qualify for an allocation of social housing; or 

 There is a history of relationship breakdown between the sole tenant and the 
applicant. 

 The Council have previously taken enforcement action against the proposed joint 
tenancy, or they are known to be anti-social or have engaged in criminal conduct. 

 
The Housing Services Manager will determine whether a new tenancy is granted.  
 
Joint to sole tenancy 
The Council cannot remove a joint tenant from a joint tenancy and it is not possible for a joint 
tenant to assign their tenancy to the other joint tenant.  
 
A joint tenant may terminate the tenancy by serving a valid notice to quit which will have the 
effect of ending the tenancy for both. The Council can either take possession proceedings 
against anyone continuing to occupy the property or offer a new sole tenancy to the 
remaining occupier although it is not obliged to do so.  
 
Alternatively, the Council may agree to a surrender of the joint tenancy and a re-grant of a 
new tenancy to a sole tenant.  
 
The Council can refuse to consent to a new sole tenancy. Reasons for refusal include (but 
are not limited to) if: 

 There has been a previous succession to the tenancy or an assignment to a potential 
successor   

 There are outstanding rent arrears; 

 There is legal action being taken against the property including but not limited to a 
notice seeking possession has been served, an injunction is in force, a possession 
claim has been issued; a suspended possession order is in force; 

 The house would become overcrowded or under occupied; 

 The applicant is under 18 years old, unless it can be shown the joint tenancy is 
necessary for the minor; 

 The applicant would not qualify for an allocation of social housing; or 

 There is a history of relationship breakdown between the sole tenant and the 
applicant. 

 The Council have previously taken enforcement action against the proposed joint 
tenancy, or they are known to be anti-social or have engaged in criminal conduct. 

 
Discretion to grant a new sole tenancy lies with the Housing Services Manager in 
accordance with the Allocations and Lettings Policy.    
 
Relationship breakdown 
It is possible for a non-tenant occupier to obtain a court order in family or matrimonial 
proceedings to have a sole tenancy transferred into their name. It is also possible for a court 
to order that a joint tenancy should be transferred into a sole name. This can be under 

matrimonial or family law, or under the Children Act 1989.  Where the court orders this, the 
Council will transfer the tenancy as ordered, unless the tenancy has already been brought to 
an end or will be brought to an end by a notice to terminate which was served before the 
court order. 
 
It may be possible, prior to breakdown, for a sole tenant to request an assignment of the 

Page 67



6 
 

tenancy to someone who could be a successor.  (The tenancy would remain a sole tenancy).   
 
Where a joint tenant or occupier is a victim of domestic abuse, the Council will ensure 
referrals to partner agencies are made including (where appropriate) a MARAC referral.  The 
Council will also consider use of its Sanctuary Scheme to complete minor works such as 
installation of security lighting upon recommendation from the Police.  
 
Where a joint tenant or occupier is convicted by the Courts of a domestic abuse related 
offence, the Council will interview the perpetrator and consider whether to take action to 
evict the perpetrator. A perpetrator is someone who uses or threaten to use violence or 
abuse (including physical, psychological, sexual, emotional abuse, or restricting financial 
control), or intimidates any person (including children) living with them.  
 
Running a business from home 
Tenants must not run a business from their properties without obtaining prior written 
permission from the Council.  Permission is discretionary, and may be conditional.  
 
Permission can be revoked at any time and for any reason, but reasons for refusing 
permission or revoking permission can include: 

 The business not being suitable for a residential area; 

 Where the business activity is likely to amount to or lead to a breach of other terms of 
the tenancy; 

 Where the business causes or is likely to cause a nuisance or annoyance to anyone 
living, working or visiting the neighbourhood of the property. 

 Where the business causes or is likely to cause excess wear and tear or damage to 
the property or its fixtures and fittings 

 Issues with tenancy conduct. 
 
If permission is granted, the tenant will still need to check with the Council’s planning 
department to see if any additional consents are needed, and permission by the Council as 
landlord does not amount to permission on behalf of any other department of the Council nor 
imply that such permission will be forthcoming. 
 
The Council will not give permission for the property to be used as a B & B, Airbbnb or 
holiday let. Such instances will be treated as tenancy fraud.   
 
Where a business is run from a property without consent, the Council may take steps to stop 
such activity, for example seeking an order from the court to prevent the business activities 
or taking steps to end the tenancy. 
  
Sub-letting and lodgers 
A lodger is someone who lives with the tenant as part of their household and pays a small 
amount for board and lodging. 
 
Subletting is the act of allowing someone else to live in your property in return for rent. The 
sub-tenant has exclusive use of part of the property. 
 
Whether a tenant is allowed to have a lodger or sub-let part of the property will be set out in 
the tenancy agreement. Introductory tenancies do not allow for lodgers or sub-letting. If a 
tenant sub-lets or has a lodger, the tenant must continue to live in the property as their only 
or main home, or they will lose security of tenure. This means the Council can serve notice 
to quit and the tenant can be evicted. 
 
Consent is required from the Council to sub-let part of a property or have a lodger, and the 

Page 68



7 
 

tenant must tell the Council the names and details of the proposed sub-tenants or lodgers. 
The Council can refuse to give consent, for any reason, including (but not limited to):  

 The presence of the lodger or sub-tenant will make the property overcrowded; 

 The lodger or sub-tenant is known to the Council and not considered to be a suitable 
occupier; and 

 The property is not suitable for a lodger or sub-tenant. 
 
The Council may also tell a tenant to make a lodger or sub-tenant leave if they put the tenant 
in breach of their tenancy, including by engaging in anti-social behaviour. 
 
It is a criminal offence to sub-let the whole of a property to someone else and a tenant can 
be prosecuted for this. In addition, any security of tenure will be lost and cannot be regained. 
This means the Council can serve a notice to quit to end the non-secure periodic tenancy 
and then will take steps to evict the tenant. In addition the Council can ask the court for an 
unlawful profit order which will force the tenant to pay to the Council the profits of their 
unlawful sub-letting. 
 
Gardens  
Some properties are let with individual gardens and others have use of communal gardens 
and spaces. 
 
Tenants are not permitted to make any alterations to communal gardens and are expected 
to act respectfully in them, refraining from behaviour which causes or is likely to cause a 
nuisance or annoyance to neighbours, visitors and others working in the neighbourhood.   
 
A tenant remains responsible for their garden regardless of their personal circumstances and 
is therefore expected to make suitable arrangements for the continued maintenance and 
upkeep.  
 
Dogs must be kept on leads and under control in communal areas and faeces immediately 
cleared up. 
 
Where the property has its own garden, the tenant is responsible for keeping it in a tidy and 
acceptable condition as per the terms of their tenancy agreement.   The garden area must 
be tidy and free from rubbish, pests, and animal waste or faeces.  Trees are tenants 
responsibility, however they must not cut down or remove any trees without getting prior 
permission (unless they have planted it themselves). Tenants are responsible for fences.  
 
Tenants must have the Council’s written permission before they: 

 Install decking or a conservatory, greenhouse, fence, wall, garage, drive shed, patio, 
aviary, pigeon loft, fishpond, pool or other structure in their garden – please see 
Repairs Policy for further information  

 Remove, damage or destroy any trees 

 Remove, alter or replace any fencing or boundary 

 Plant trees. 
 
We recognise that untidy gardens can affect the neighbourhood and not just those 
immediately adjacent to the property.  The Council will take enforcement action if:  

 the material in an untidy garden is liable to decay, for example foodstuffs, faeces, 
nappies, dead animals; and  

o it is causing a nuisance to neighbours (as per the Anti-Social Behaviour, 
Crime and Policing Act 2014); or  

o there is evidence that it is attracting rats or mice, 

 there is harbourage for vermin such as rats or mice. 

Page 69



8 
 

 there is evidence of inert materials which are unsightly but are unlikely to be causing 
a statutory nuisance. 

 there is an accumulation of material that can make access to a premises difficult and 
that may present a physical or fire risk to the occupants or those of adjoining 
properties.  It should be noted that this does not include premises which are merely 
unsightly, untidy or in a bad state of repair. 

 
In the scenarios above, the Council will ask a tenant to complete work to the garden within a 
reasonable timeframe. Consideration regarding vulnerabilities will be taken into account 
regarding timescales set for work.  The Council will seek to explore legal remedies to 
encourage a tenant to bring their garden up to an acceptable standard including (but not 
limited to) Community Protection Warning/Notice, injunctions or possession proceedings.  
 
In circumstances where the garden is below the threshold for enforcement action, the 
complainant will be encouraged to speak to their neighbour direct.  The Council will facilitate 
mediation if both parties are happy to accept.   
 
Infestations 
Tenants are required to ensure that they do not do anything in the property which causes or 
encourages infestations of bed bugs, cockroaches or other insects or rodents. Excess food 
must not be thrown out of windows, balconies, into gardens, or communal areas for birds or 
other animals, and food waste must be properly disposed of in rubbish bins and not left open 
in the property.  
 
The Council will treat the following infestations:   

 Rats and mice within the property or communal areas    

 Wasps nests attached to the property or inside the property 

 Fleas, bedbugs or cockroaches reported within the first four weeks of the tenancy  
 

Tenants are responsible for the following infestations: 

 Ants, beetles, spiders, woodlice in their home  

 Bees – the British Bee Keepers association will advise on a bee keeper that can 
collect them - www.bbka.org.uk  

 Flea, bedbugs or cockroaches reported after the first four weeks of the tenancy.  
 

Keeping animals and pets 
Tenants may keep up to 2 small caged birds, 1 small fish tank or 1 small caged rodent.  
Permission to keep any other pets (including cats and dogs), must be requested in writing 
from the Council.  Permission will depend on the type of property, when the tenancy 
agreement started and the conduct of the tenancy.  Permission must be requested each time 
the tenant moves house.  
 
Permission to keep dogs will not be given to tenants living in flats or bedsits with a 
communal entrance, unless the animal is recognised as an official support companion.  
Permission will not be given to store cockerels.   
 
Permission will not be granted to anyone that has convictions for abandonment, cruelty, 
neglect of mistreatment of animals or have been disqualified from keeping animals due to a 
conviction.   
 
Tenants must not: 

 breed animals at the property 

 keep any breed of dangerous dog as per section 1(1) of the Dangerous Dogs Act 
1991, or keep any illegal breed of animal as per Dangerous Wild Animals Act 1976 or 

Page 70

http://www.bbka.org.uk/


9 
 

similar  

 tether any livestock on any Council land  

 allow any animal to cause a nuisance, annoyance or disturbance to neighbours or 
others lawfully in the locality of your home, 

 allow any animal to behave in an intimidating, aggressive or dangerous manner 

 carry out acts of cruelty to animals - cases will be reported to the RSPCA and/or the 
police  

 build any animal enclosures without our permission.    
 
Where the Council is satisfied that pets are causing a nuisance to neighbours or damaging 
the property, the Council has the right to withdraw at any time any permission implied by the 
tenancy agreement or expressly given. Permission can be withdrawn for any reason and the 
Council may enforce its decision by taking appropriate legal action.  
 
Anti-Social Behaviour  
Anti-social behaviour (ASB) is the broad term used to describe a range of nuisances, 
disorder and crime that is repeated, persistent and affects people's daily lives (as per the 
Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014).  
 
There is no single definition of anti-social behaviour but it can include conduct such as: 

 Excessive/unreasonable noise  

 Domestic violence and abuse 

 Physical violence 

 Hate-related incidents (e.g. based on race, sexual orientation, gender, disability or 
belief) 

 Verbal abuse, harassment, intimidation or threatening behaviour 

 Vandalism and damage to properties 

 Prostitution, sexual acts or kerb crawling 

 Criminal behaviour. 
 
The Council accepts that neighbours will naturally have different values or opinions and 
sometimes this can cause problems. We expect our tenants to show consideration to their 
neighbours as well as understanding that we all have a right to live our lives.  
 
Not all reports relating to behaviour that impacts on an individual will be considered to be 
ASB.  It is important to show tolerance and be respectful of differing lifestyles and 
circumstances.  For the purpose of this policy, we do not consider the following to be anti-
social behaviour: 

 Noise or disturbance from children when they’re playing at reasonable hours  

 Family disputes at reasonable levels and hours  

 Children crying 

 Smells from cooking including BBQs 

 Sounds of normal living that we can hear such as opening and closing of doors, 
going up and down stairs, hoovering, washing machines,  

 One-off parties such as BBQs, birthday or Christmas parties providing they don’t 
cause an unacceptable disturbance  

 Clashes of lifestyle, including cultural differences 

 Smoking cigarettes  

 Minor personal differences such as ‘dirty looks’ or fall outs between children 

 Putting rubbish out on the wrong day.   
 

In these scenarios, the Council will offer mediation to help neighbours find their own 
solutions.  If this is refused, the case will be closed.  (Vulnerabilities will be taken into 

Page 71



10 
 

consideration as part of this).   
 
We are committed to taking effective action against ASB and using the powers available to 
us, where we consider they can provide effective remedy.  The Council has a range of tools 
available to address ASB. The Housing and Community Safety Team will work together on 
any enforcement in conjunction with the Council’s Enforcement Policy.   
 
Where ASB is the result of criminal activity, such as drug dealing or harassment, we will 
expect residents to report criminal behaviour to the police.  We will support the police and 
other statutory agencies to take action where they have sufficient evidence to do so.  Where 
a tenant, a member of their household or visitor is convicted in a criminal court, we will  
consider whether additional enforcement action against the tenancy is required.  The steps 
taken will depend on the circumstances of each case, including the severity of the behaviour, 
the nature of the conduct, whether it is persistent, evidence available and the vulnerability of 
any complainant or perpetrator.  
 
The Council may make use of the following enforcement tools depending upon what is 
proportionate: 

 Meet with the tenant to discuss concerns; 

 Write to the tenant and warn them not to behave anti-socially; 

 Arrange mediation between the complainant and perpetrator.  

 Signpost or refer the perpetrator to relevant third party agencies who may be able to 
assist and prevent a repetition of the behaviour 

 Apply for an injunction to restrain behaviour and/or exclude the tenant or someone 
else from the property and the locality. 

 Apply for a closure order to shut the property for a period of time to prevent further 
ASB 

 Issue Community Protection Notices and Fixed Penalty Notices  

 Extend an introductory tenancy; 

 Serve any relevant notices, and/or take possession proceedings to evict.  A 
successful outcome through the courts is heavily reliant on the quality of 
evidence and witnesses. 

 
Access 
The Council has a number of duties in respect of property maintenance and compliance. 
Tenants also have a duty to provide access to the Council, its staff, agents and contractors. 
Tenants must allow Council employees, their contractors, agents or other statutory bodies to 
enter the property (at reasonable hours) if they have    been given reasonable written notice 
(usually 24 hours).  Examples include (but are not limited to): 

 Carrying out maintenance, repairs or other works  

 Carrying out gas safety checks or electrical safety checks,  

 Inspecting the condition of the property.   
 
Tenants must make sure the property is safe for anyone accessing it for any lawful reason, 
including gaining access to roofs and loft spaces.  Animals must be kept under control at all 
times when visited by the claimant’s employees, contractors or agents.  An adult (aged 18 
and over) must be present for the appointment.  
 
Where a property has a gas supply, the Council must carry out a gas check every year to 

make sure the gas installations are safe (Regulation 36 of the Gas Safety (Installation and 
Use) Regulations 1998).  The Council and/or its contractors will write to tenants to notify 
them when the check will be carried out.  We will ensure tenants are provided information 

highlighting the risks of not having the annual gas safety inspection.  If access is refused, 
the Council may take action in the county court to force a tenant to provide access, or allow 

Page 72



11 
 

the Council to enter the property to carry out the same. In addition the gas may be capped at 
its source to remove any potential danger to property and people.  
 
Where a property does not have a gas supply, the Council must service alternate source 
including solid fuel systems and air source heat pumps.  The Council and/or its contractors 
will write to tenants to notify them when the check will be carried out.  We will ensure tenants 

are provided information highlighting the risks of not having the service completed.  If 
access is refused, the Council may take action in the county court to force a tenant to 
provide access, or allow the Council to enter the property to carry out the same.  
 
The Council must also carry out 5 yearly electrical checks. The Council will write to tenants 
to notify them when the check will be carried out. If access is refused, the Council may take 
action in the county court to force a tenant to provide access, or allow the Council to enter 
the property to carry out the same. 
 
When the Council requests access for any maintenance, repairs, checks or inspections but it 
is refused by the tenant, the Council may take action to gain access to the properties or seek 
to evict tenants. 
 
In an emergency, the Council is permitted to force access without notice being given.  An 
emergency includes (but is not limited to) situations where: 

 There is an imminent risk of physical harm to any person, or 

 There is significant damage to the property on any other property in the locality, or 

 The property is unoccupied and inadequately secured against unauthorised entry or 
vandalism. 

 
Where an emergency has led to forced access, the Council will make good any damage 
caused when entering the property. The Council will secure the property against 
unauthorised entry. However, the tenant may be liable for any costs incurred when access 
has been unreasonably refused or if the emergency is caused from the tenant’s neglect of 
the property. 
 
Abandonment 
We recognise that tenants may be away from their homes for an extended period for a 
number of reasons. A tenant must live in their property as their only or main home and must 
notify the Council of if they are going to be away from their property for more than 28 days 
including the dates of their absence and the name and contact details of a nominated key 
holder (in case  of emergencies).  The tenant must ask our permission to appoint a caretaker 
- permission will not unreasonably be withheld.    
 
Where we believe that the tenant may have abandoned the property (including anonymous 
notification) we will take appropriate action, in accordance with the legislative requirements 
and our abandonment procedure. 
 
If a tenant no longer wishes to hold the tenancy, they can serve on the Council a notice to 
terminate the tenancy, which should normally be in writing and give at least 28 days notice. 
The Council may at its sole discretion accept shorter notice. 
 
If a tenant has not served a notice to terminate, but has abandoned the property, they will 
lose security of tenure which means the Council can serve on the tenant a notice to quit 
which will end the non-secure tenancy. 
 
The Council may then take back the property or issue possession proceedings and enforce 
possession order by a bailiff’s warrant to get possession back. In such cases the Council will 

Page 73



12 
 

ask the court to order that the absent tenant pay the Council’s legal costs.    
 
A tenant will also have to pay the Council rent or damages for use and occupation until the 
Council gets possession of the property so it is always in a tenant’s best interest to give up a 
tenancy if they have no intention to return. This will also allow the Council to re-let the 
property to someone who needs it. 
 
Disabled aids and adaptations  
This section should be read in conjunction with the Housing Assistance Policy.  
 
Under the Equality Act 2010 (Section 36(1)(a), Paragraph 2, Schedule 4, and Section 190) A 
controller of let premises (e.g. landlord) may have to make reasonable adjustments in 
response to a request from a disabled tenant or occupier of those premises (and paragraph 
2, Schedule 4, Equality Act 2010).  
 
Reasonable adjustments include changing how things are done and providing an auxiliary 
aid, and these are subject to exclusions. The Council cannot be compelled to make changes 
which results in the removal or alteration of a physical feature of the premises. However, 
disabled tenants of residential properties can apply for their landlord's consent to make their 
own alterations and improvements to the premises at their own expense (Section 190). 
 
The Council is committed to providing a high quality aids and adaptations service to enable 
disabled tenants to live safely and more independently within their homes, through efficient 
management of resources and funding. 
 
All aids and adaptations work undertaken by the Council will only be carried out as a result 
of an assessment by an Occupational Therapist (OT) to determine eligibility and both 
short/long term medical needs. If the resident does not have an OT, they will be advised to 
contact Lincolnshire County Council, as an assessment of their disability is required. The 
OT’s assessment will determine the urgency of the adaptation work required. Whilst guided 
by this, the Council will also work to ensure a balance between both priority need and time 
spent on the waiting list.   
 
The financing of adaptations is set out in the Housing Assistance Policy.      
 
Feasibility of adaptations 
The Housing Department will undertake a feasibility assessment in exceptional cases, for 
example, when the resident’s circumstances are of a complex nature and/or the proposed 
adaptations may have a very significant impact on the property itself. Upon receipt of the OT 
referral, the feasibility assessment will be carried out in consultation with the OT along with 
our Private Sector Housing Team and/or Building Control. The feasibility assessment will 
seek to establish: 

 If there is a possibility for the tenant to be moved to more suitable accommodation. 

 The implications of the adaptation work when the property becomes available to re-
let, in particular the impact on future allocations and under occupancy issues.  

 If the adaptation works are suitable for the tenant.  

 The feasibility of the adaptation in relation to the layout and structure of the property 

 Whether the estimated cost of the adaptation work is likely to exceed the Local 
Authority’s maximum grant provision. 

 
Adaptations will not be carried out to a property where it is under-occupied. We will look to 
transfer tenants to a more suitable property. Couples who need separate bedrooms for 
medical reasons will not be adversely affected by this rule and we will seek advice from 
medical professionals in such cases. It may be decided that the resident’s needs are best 

Page 74



13 
 

met through a managed move. This decision would be made by the Housing Services 
Manager and Housing Options Manager in consultation with the tenant. A priority transfer 
within the Council’s stock would be approved under the Council’s Allocations Policy and/or a 
priority move to another property may be arranged. The OT will be consulted on the 
suitability of a proposed property.   
 
In general, the Council does not purchase adapted properties or properties suitable for 
adaptations on the open market. Where it has been identified that a move to a more suitable 
property is both reasonable and practicable, the Council reserves the right to refuse approval 
for the adaptations requested for the original home. The Housing Landlord Services 
Manager will make this decision and such decisions will be final. The OT will be consulted on 
the suitability of the proposed alternative home.  
 
Termination of tenancies  
Tenancies can be terminated in a number of ways: by the Council, normally through the 
courts granting and enforcing a possession order; by the tenant; or by consent of the Council 
and the tenant. 
 
By the Council 
Most Council tenancies have security of tenure and are protected by the Protection from 
Eviction Act 1977, which means that, unless the tenant agrees to leave, the Council cannot 
regain possession without an order of the court. In such cases, the Council may first serve 
any relevant notices on the tenant, which will state the reasons why possession is being 
sought, unless it has asked the court to dispense with a notice. The Council may then issue 
a claim for possession which will be determined by the court. In some cases the court has a 
discretion as to whether to evict the tenant. 
 
Where a tenant has lost security of tenure, for example by ceasing to reside in the property 
as their only or main home, or subletting or parting with possession of the whole of the 
property, the Council can serve a notice to quit on the tenant. Notices to quit normally give 
the tenant 28 days to give the property back to the Council. If a tenant fails to do this, the 
Council may then issue possession proceedings. Normally these proceedings result in a 
possession order as the court has little discretion to refuse. 
 
By the tenant  
A tenant can surrender their tenancy back to the Council. Normally the Council will require a 
notice to terminate tenancy form to be completed giving the Council 4 week’s notice and the 
return of the keys.  If a tenant has been offered a Council property through the Council’s 
Allocation Policy, a minimum of one week’s notice would be accepted.  A joint tenant can 
usually serve a notice to end a joint tenancy even without the knowledge or consent the 
other joint tenant. Once served, a tenant’s notice cannot be revoked and the tenancy will 
come to an end. If the tenant does not vacate or give the property back with vacant 
possession, the Council may issue possession proceedings in the court to evict. 
 
Death of tenant 
Where a tenant dies and there is no-one who can succeed to the tenancy, the tenancy will 
cease to have security of tenure and the Council will end the periodic non-secure tenancy by 
serving a notice to quit on the personal representatives/executors of the deceased and the 
Public Trustee, unless the personal representatives/executors serve the Council with a 
notice to terminate and clear the property, surrendering or giving up the tenancy. 
 
Rent remains payable by the estate of the deceased during the notice period, and thereafter 
use and occupation charges equivalent to the rent are payable by the estate until the 
property is cleared and given back to the Council or a court possession order is enforced 
(whichever is the latter).  Further information around charges during the notice period is 

Page 75



14 
 

available in the Housing Income Management Policy.   
 
Where persons are left in occupation of the property and they do not have a right to 
succeed, once the notice to quit served on the deceased’s estate has expired, the Council 
may issue possession proceedings to regain possession and evict the occupiers.  The 
Council may require the occupiers to pay use and occupation charges equivalent to rent 
from the date of the expiry of the notice to quit until possession is given up.  Please see the 
‘Use and Occupation’ section for further information.  
 
Mutual exchange  
Tenancies can also be terminated where tenants exchange their homes with another social 
housing tenant. See the Mutual Exchange section on page 3 for further information.   
 
Belongings left in a property after tenancy terminated 
When a tenant ends their tenancy, or a tenant has been evicted, they are required to give 
the property back to the Council empty of all rubbish, furniture and other belongings.  
 
Where a tenant ends their tenancy, the Council will dispose of any items left in the property 
and re-charge the tenant.   
 
In all other instances, the Council will   

 Dispose of any rubbish or damaged goods 

 Remove any animals and place them with the RSPCA, animal shelter or rehome; 

 Store any other items left in the property.   
 
The Council will serve a notice under the provisions of section 41 of the Local Government 
(Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982, telling the tenant when they must collect their 
possessions.  
 
The Council will give the tenant at least one month to do this and will send the notice to the 
tenant’s last known address or any forwarding address they have given to the Council, or in 
the absence of such an address, may affix it to the property. If the items are not collected, 
the Council will dispose of them and is entitled to charge the tenant its reasonable costs of 
disposal and storage.  The Council may choose to store the items away from the property 
during this period.  
 
Rent and use & occupation accounts 
The Council charges tenants a weekly rent and, where applicable service charge, for 
occupying a Council property. Rent levels are set by the Council following guidelines set by 
statute and the Social Housing Regulator.  Rents are often changed on or around 1st April 
each year. 
 
There may be circumstances where an occupier occupies a property as a trespasser or a 
licensee (a personal licence to occupy a property). In both cases the occupiers are not 
tenants and have no or limited security of tenure, making it easier for the Council to evict. 
 
In such circumstances, the occupier does not pay rent but is liable to pay the Council a sum 
for use and occupation of the property which is normally equivalent to the rent that the 
Council would charge under a tenancy. 
 
The payment of such sums does not give the occupier any greater right to occupy, nor does 
it create a tenancy or prevent the Council from taking action to evict the occupiers. 
 
Use and occupation charge accounts are set up in a number of cases, including: 

Page 76



15 
 

 If the tenant has died, a notice to quit to end the tenancy has expired and the 
occupier has no right to succeed to the tenancy or the property has not been cleared 
by the personal representatives or executors of the deceased tenant; 

 The occupier occupies a property when the tenant has served a notice to quit or 
otherwise surrendered the property; 

 For squatters;  

 Where a joint tenant has ended the tenancy leaving the other joint tenant in 
occupation. 

 
An occupier who is not a tenant may be able to obtain housing benefit or the housing 
element of universal credit even if they do not have a right to legally occupy the property. 
 
The Council can ask the court to order that an occupier pays the Council any arrears of use 
of occupation charge which remains unpaid 
 
The Council’s Housing Options Team will advise and support the occupier on how to secure 
alternative accommodation including access to the Housing Register. If an offer is made 
from the Housing Register, it will be let in accordance with the Allocations and Lettings 
Policy.  The case will be reviewed frequently by the Housing Options Team as part of the 
occupiers Personalised Housing Plan.   
 
Timescales regarding submitting possession proceedings applications to court will be made 
by the Housing Services Manager on a case by case basis with the case reviewed quarterly.      
 
Other breaches of tenancy 
Where a tenant fails to comply with their tenancy agreement, the Council have a number of 
enforcement tools available to them. What action the Council takes will depend on a number 
of matters, including (but limited to) the type and number of breaches, whether they are 
serious or persistent, and whether they can be remedied by the tenant. 
 
The Council may: 

 Write or meet with a tenant to explain the breaches and how they can be remedied if 
that is possible; 

 Issue Community Protection Warnings and Notices followed by Fixed Penalty 
Notices 

 Involve third party agencies and bodies if it is considered they may be able to assist; 

 Remedy the breach itself, and then recharge the costs to the tenant; 

 Obtain a court order to force the tenant to remedy the breach or to prevent further 
breaches; 

 Take steps to evict the tenant. 
 
A tenant is also responsible for the behaviour of their household and visitors. The Council 
may take action against non-tenants for their behaviour if it is considered appropriate. 
 
Where the Council has to take legal action, the court will be asked to make the tenant or 
defendant pay the Council’s costs. 
 
Decanting to alternative accommodation  
 
Temporary decanting 
There may be occasions when a tenant and their household have to vacate their property 
temporarily and move into temporary alternative accommodation.  
 
The Council may need to have full access to a tenanted property, in the absence of the 

Page 77



16 
 

tenant, for example, in order to carry out extensive or dangerous repairs or improvements. 
 
Where a tenant and their household are required to decant, the Council will explain the 
nature of the works and the likely timeframe. 
 
The Council may decant a tenant and their household into another dwelling, B and B or 
hotel.  Rent will continue to be due on the tenanted property and no charge will be made to 
the tenant for the temporary dwelling. Where the Council decants the tenant and their 
household into B and B or hotel type accommodation, the Council will directly pay the 
provider for that accommodation. 
 
The Council will require the tenant to sign a license to occupy the temporary dwelling and 
will request that the tenant does not return to their home until the Council confirms the works 
are completed and/or the property is safe. In the majority of cases, the locks will be changed 
temporarily until the tenant can return to their home.   
 
If the tenant does not return to the tenanted property when asked to do so, the Council can 
serve a notice to end the non-secure licence of the decant property and if necessary take 
possession proceedings to force a return. 
 
Where a tenant and their household have been placed in temporary accommodation such as 
a hotel, we will meet the following expenses: 

 Accommodation costs (paid directly by SHDC).  

 An allowance of £10 per adult and £5 per child per day for meals.  This will be 
reimbursed upon production of receipts  

 the cost of using a launderette where no laundry facilities are available and the 
decant exceeds 7 days.  This will be reimbursed upon production of receipts  

 Short term cost of kennels/boarding for pets where landlord permission has 
previously been granted to the tenant for pets, and the pets cannot be looked after by 
family/friends.  

 We will not pay for bar bills, phone calls, room service, etc.   
 
All Home-loss payments must be authorised by the Housing Landlord Services Manager.    
 

Permanent decanting and home loss payments 
In some cases, it may not be possible for the tenant to return to their home.  In this scenario, they 
will qualify to join the Housing Register and will be let a property in accordance with the Allocations 
Policy.   
 
Home loss is a statutory payment made to a person to compensate them for the permanent loss of 
their home. It can be paid to a tenant provided that they have lived there for 12 months before the 
date of moving and are being permanently displaced as a result of redevelopment of land or 
improvement to any dwelling. Where the tenant has been resident for less than 12 months, they 
may still be entitled to a payment as any period of occupation by a predecessor will count where 
the applicant succeeded to the tenancy. This compensation is paid as a flat rate as set by the 
Government from time-to-time.   Any outstanding payments due by the tenant or owner to us e.g. 
arrears and recharges will be offset against any Home Loss Payment offered. 
 
A statutory Home Loss payment is only payable where displacement occurs as a result of the 
compulsory purchase of the home or a possession order is granted to facilitate redevelopment of 
the land or where a move is inevitably required.  It is not payable where a tenant agrees to move 
voluntarily. 
 
Please note that any outstanding debt to the Council including arrears and rechargeable repairs 

Page 78



17 
 

will be deducted from the amount of home loss and disturbance payments the tenant is eligible for. 
 
The amount of payment for Home loss is fixed by law, and is reviewed annually.   
 
Tenants need to make a claim for Home Loss payments. 
 
The Council may, at its sole discretion, make a discretionary home loss payment to a tenant, who 
has agreed to move voluntarily where if they had not done so, and a compulsory purchase or a 
possession order were made, they would have been entitled to a statutory home loss payment. 
 
All Home Loss payments must be authorised by the Housing Landlord Services Manager.  
 
Disturbance allowance  
In very limited circumstances, prescribed by the Land Compensation Act 1973, the Council 
must pay statutory compensation for the costs incurred in permanently moving homes. There 
is non-qualifying period (as with Home Loss) however the tenant must be in lawful occupation 
at the time of moving. The payment allowances are intended to reimburse the resident for 
actual and reasonable expenses incurred in moving and setting up home, or allow a notional 
sum in appropriate circumstances.  The effect of the payments will be that the resident will be 
in no worse or no better a position than they would have if had they not needed to move. There 
is a maximum payment allowable and it will cover such things as removal of contents and 
furniture, disconnection and reconnection of cookers and washing machines, disconnection 
and reconnection of aerials or satellite dishes, telephone and broadband, and the redirection of 
mail. 
 
Home loss payments and disturbance payments are not payable for temporary decants. 
 
All Home-loss payments must be authorised by the Housing Landlord Services Manager.  
 
Monitoring tenancies and the condition of our properties 
Effective management is necessary to ensure our tenants can live comfortably in their 
homes. We expect that tenants will maintain their properties in a reasonable condition at all 
times in accordance with their tenancy agreement. We will monitor that all our tenants keep 
to the terms of their tenancy agreement and take appropriate action to resolve any breaches 
effectively. Where a tenant requires it, we will provide support or sign-post them to external 
support agencies. We will carry out and promote regular tenancy visits and estate 
inspections to focus on the quality of the neighbourhoods. 
 
Particular attention will be paid to:  

 How many people appear to be living in the property, and where relevant, whether 
the Council has been given prior notice or consented to them; 

 Whether the property and any gardens and outdoor space is in repair, and in a clean 
and tidy condition; 

 Whether any there have been any alterations, improvements or changes without 
consent; 

 Whether any other tenancy condition appears to have been breached. 

 Where a tenant refuses to engage with tenancy inspection, the Council will request 
access to inspect the property, and if access is refused the Council will follow its 
policy and procedures on access, which may result in court action against the tenant 
compelling them to give access or an eviction order. 
 

Safeguarding 
The Council is committed to safeguarding its community so it is a safe place for all to live in. 
The aim is to prevent abuse and neglect wherever possible, whilst promoting an approach 

Page 79



18 
 

that focuses on improving life for all concerned. 
 
It's not always obvious to tell when someone is being abused or neglected. There may be 
specific signs or instinct may tell you something is wrong, however abuse is never 
acceptable in any circumstance, and everyone has the right to be safe. Safeguarding is 
everyone’s business. 
 
The Council works in partnership with others and aims to make sure that those using its 
services are listened to and protected from abuse and neglect. Officers have regular training 
on Safeguarding. Modern Day Slavery and Domestic Abuse and report all incidents or 
concerns they have relating to the wellbeing of an individual.  The Housing Officers follow 
the Council’s corporate policy and procedure on safeguarding.  Officers attend and refer into 
multi-agency meetings including but not limited to the following:  

 Team Around the Child meetings  

 Child Protection meetings.   

 Vulnerable Adult Panel  

 Anti-Social Behaviour Risk Assessment Conference  

 Multi Agency Rask Assessment Conference (for Domestic Abuse Cases).   
 
Hoarding 
Hoarding behaviour can cause issues with property condition and/or create hazards in and 
around the home that may cause a health and safety risks to the occupants, visitors to the 
property, surrounding residents or the fabric and condition of the property. Consequently, it 
is likely to breach conditions of the tenancy.  

Hoarding is commonly defined as:  

 The acquisition of, and failure to discard, a large number of possessions that appear 
to be useless or of limited value  

 Living conditions sufficiently cluttered so as to prevent activities for which those 
spaces were designed. 

 
Hoarding is often recognised as the symptom of a mental health disorder. Compulsive 
hoarding behaviour is often the manifestation of complex issues or conditions that a tenant 
may be experiencing.   

Compulsive hoarding is highly complex and requires a collaborative and integrated 
approach. We adopt a co-ordinated multi agency approach as per the Lincolnshire Multi 
Agency Hoarding Protocol to effectively deal with people who hoard, reducing duplication for 
both agencies and customers. The Council will take a non-judgemental approach which 
balances the needs of the individual against the severity of the impact that their hoarding has 
on them, the property and neighbouring residents.   
 
When seeking to engage with cases of hoarding, we take into consideration safeguarding 
guidance (Care Act 2014), which sets out the duties for local authorities and outlines how 
partner organisations, should work in partnership to help protect vulnerable people from 
abuse or neglect.  A safeguarding referral to Children Services will be made where a child 
lives in a hoarded property. A safeguarding referral to Adult Services will be made where an 
adult lives in a hoard property, and there is risk of harm concerns around capacity or 
vulnerability.   
 
We will always try to work with tenants where hoarding occurs, however we will take 
immediate action where there is a fire or health and safety risk to the home or shared areas.  
The Council can take injunction and possession proceedings if a tenant’s action is 

Page 80



19 
 

considered detrimental to the condition of the property, or a Health and Safety risk. However 
we will endeavour to work with people and keep them in their homes.  
 
Personal property and insurance 
The Council is obliged to obtain buildings insurance for its tenanted properties, but does not 
obtain insurance which covers the tenant’s contents of properties. This means that tenants 
should obtain insurance covering all their personal belongings and the decorations of the 
property.  
 
The Council will not be responsible for loss or damage of any personal property unless the 
damage or loss is caused by the Council’s own negligence, so the Council will not be 
responsible for any damage or loss is caused by the tenant, their household or visitors or a 
neighbouring tenant. 
  
Tenancy fraud 
Social housing is a scarce resource with need exceeding demand. The Council aims to 
ensure that social housing will be available for those in housing need at the time they need 
it. The Council will tackle fraudulent applications, unlawful subletting and tenancy misuse 
promptly and effectively, to ensure its housing stock is used by those with a legitimate 
housing need. 
 
Housing fraud can lead to increased waiting times for prospective and existing tenants in 
unsuitable housing, increased disrepair, property damage and lack of health and safety 
checks due to occupiers being unwilling to report issues in case the fraud is discovered. It is 
also a drain on the Council’s resources as it will have to expend money on investigation and 
legal enforcement action. 
 
There are a number of different types of housing fraud. The Council will take action where: 
A tenant has fraudulently obtained a social housing tenancy by misrepresentation of identity 
or circumstances; 

 Engaged in unauthorised subletting, whether subletting the whole of the property to a 
single household or multiple sublets; 

 Where the tenant has ceased to occupy as their only or main home 

 Where the tenant has engaged in an unauthorised assignment of the tenancy – 
mutual exchange or unauthorised transfer of tenancy 

 Where the tenant has engaged in ‘key selling’ – where the tenant leaves the property 
and passes on the keys in return for a one off lump sum payment or favour 

 A successor has falsely claimed succession – retention of a tenancy following the 
death or vacation of the tenant 

 Where a tenant has fraudulently claimed a right to buy.   
 
Where possible, the Council will aim to prevent fraud. However, where this has not been 
possible, the Council  will consider a range of tools to tackle fraud including seeking 
possession of properties acquired by fraud, seeking unlawful profit orders against those who 
have profited from social housing fraud and prosecuting (under criminal statutes) those who 
have committed fraud. 
 

Last reviewed September 2020  
 
 
 
 
 

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Report of: Christine Marshall, Executive Director - Commercialisation (S151 Officer) 

  

To:  Policy Development Panel 15th September 2020, Cabinet 27th October 2020 

 

Author: Phil Stacey Housing Options Manager 

 

Subject Housing Assistance Policy 

 

Purpose: To update policies and enable South Holland District Council to assist a range 

of vulnerable and/or disadvantaged households 

 

 
Recommendation(s): That the Housing Assistance Policy is approved and that authority is 
delegated to the Housing Landlord Services Manager, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and Health, to amend the policy to reflect changes in legislation and national 
policy/strategy. 
 

 

1.0 BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 South Holland District Council has a general permissive power to assist households with 
the improvement of living conditions. To do this; it must adopt a policy to exercise these 
powers. This allows the Council to decide whether it provides grants, loans, advice and so 
on to repair, improve, and extend, convert or adapt housing accommodation. This policy 
will supersede and will also cover relevant areas from the Community Housing Renewal 
Policy, as an assurance review of Private Sector Housing carried out in October 2019 also 
recommended that a review of the Community Housing Renewal Policy be completed. 

 
1.2 By adopting this policy, South Holland District Council will focus on preventing people 

having to give up their homes; thus promoting and enabling independent living, by 

supporting those who may be at risk, to access housing (including their current home) 

which meets their needs. 

 

1.3 The programme of assistance will include: 

 Providing adaptations to help disabled people to live independently and safely in their 

own homes through disabled facilities grants. 

 Providing a range of measures to create sustainable and appropriate housing for 

people who may be vulnerable and/or disadvantaged.  

 The provision of grants to help vulnerable homeowners to improve their homes and to 

facilitate property owners bringing housing stock back into use. 

 Assistance to those who are either threatened with homeless or who are 

homelessness persons to either prevent their homelessness and/or to allow access to 

suitable housing. 

 Assistance to SHDC tenants when emergencies occur and intervention can maintain 

their tenancy and/or prevent their homelessness. 

 

1.4 Much of this policy will be delivered under the Better Care Fund (BCF) which provides 

financial support for councils and NHS organisations jointly to plan and deliver local 

services. 

Page 83

Agenda Item 12.



 

 

 

 

 

1.5 Except for mandatory grants, all other assistance which may be provided under this policy 
is at the discretion of the Council and will subject to the availability of financial resources 
and how those resources may be directed by the Council’s strategic priorities. If 75% of 
available funds have been committed to mandatory grants then new discretionary 
applications will be suspended, other than in exceptional circumstances. 

 
1.6 To allow the policy to take into account changes to legislation, policies or strategies at the 

national level it is recommended that authority is delegated to the Housing Landlord 
Services Manager, in consultation with the Portfolio Holder, to amend the policy in 
accordance with legislation, national policies and strategies. 

 

1.7 South Holland District Council also provides support to homeless persons to secure 

accommodation in the Private Sector. This comes in the form of financial assistance, for 

example: to pay rent in advance or a deposit. Other appropriate assistance will be 

considered on a case by case to help prevent homelessness. 

 

1.8 South Holland District Council will assist its existing council tenants to help maintain their 

tenancy and/or prevent their homelessness in emergencies. 

 

2.0 OPTIONS 

 

2.1 Approve the policy (preferred option). 

 

2.2 Approve selected parts of the policy as determined. 

 

2.3 Do nothing and continue with delivering Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants only. 

 

3. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 

 

3.1.1 The focus of the Housing Assistance policy is one of prevention and is to enable 

independent living, by supporting those whose independence may be at risk to access 

housing, (including their current home), which meets their needs. 

 

Types of Assistance: 

 

 Mandatory – Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG’s)   
 

The Council must assist those who qualify for a DFG as laid down in legislation. The 

adaptations funded will be considered as being the most appropriate, reasonable 

and cost-effective way of meeting the assessed needs of the disabled person up to 

the maximum grant of £30,000. 

 

Where the applicant/disabled person wishes to carry out works to the property 

which are over and above those assessed by the Occupational Therapist (OT) as 

necessary, and the alternative works are defined by the Council as reasonable and 

practicable and will meet the assessed needs of the disabled person, the Council 

may offer financial assistance up to the value of the assessed need. 

 

Page 84



 

 

These grants are mandatory and thus will be prioritised over any discretionary 

grants. 

 

 

 Discretionary – Discretionary Housing Grants (DHG’s) 

 

This provides greater flexibility to the Council to provide assistance schemes which 

help people meet their needs. 

 

This includes wider health determinants other than disability, which can be made 

worse by housing conditions, for example, we may consider the health impacts of 

housing conditions on vulnerable owner-occupiers and consider schemes to 

undertake minor repairs to make homes safe and healthy or other preventative 

schemes which stop or delay conditions becoming worse.  

 

The provision of assistance other than Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants is 

subject to the availability of funding. As well as help and assistance to homeowners; 

assistance is also available to homeless persons and current South Holland District 

Council tenants. 

 

3.2 Appendices 1 and 2 provides the range of mandatory and discretionary assistance that 

may be available and this will be updated as new schemes are agreed or existing schemes 

are removed. 

 

4 EXPECTED BENEFITS 

 

4.1 Increase in the District of both sustainable and suitable accommodation for vulnerable 

persons. 

 

4.2 An increase in the health and well-being of citizens of South Holland and the reputation of 

the Council. 

 

4.3       Reduction of homelessness. 

 

3.6 People staying in their homes longer by the provision of flexible support. 

 

5 IMPLICATIONS 

 

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues 

 

5.1.1 Providing a range of grant and/or loans, for example, to keep people safe well and warm in 

their homes will contribute to reducing the carbon footprint in the district. 

 

5.2 Constitutional & Legal 

 

5.2.1 The provision of a Disabled Facilities Grant (DFGs) is regulated by the Housing Grants, 

Construction and Regeneration Act 1996. This places a statutory duty on the Council to 

provide grant assistance to qualifying disabled people to undertake a range of adaptations 

to their homes which are deemed “necessary and appropriate” to meet their needs and it is 

“reasonable and practicable” to undertake the adaptations having regard to the age and 

Page 85



 

 

condition of the dwelling. The grant is subject to a means test (except in the case of 

children) and works must be eligible as defined by the Act and Regulations. 

 

5.2.2 The Regulatory Reform (Housing Assistance) (England and Wales) Order 2002 gives the 

council the power to assist (either directly or indirectly) any person to improve living 

conditions in the area provided this is given under a published policy. 

 

5.2.3 The Homelessness Reduction Act 2017 came into force on 3 April 2018 and placed 

increased duties on local authorities to assess an applicant's needs and to prevent and 

relieve homelessness. 

 

5.2.4 Section 104 Housing Act 1985 requires Local authorities to publish information for tenants 

about the terms of their tenancies, the right to buy and repair obligations and must provide 

written tenancy agreements. 

 

5.3 Corporate Priorities 

 

5.3.1 There is a strong link between work around Housing and our corporate priorities, notably to: 

‘Ensure that our residents are enabled to live in high-quality housing no matter the tenure’. 

 

5.4       Data Protection 

 

5.4.1 All data will be held per the Data Protection Act 1998 and the General Data Protection 

Regulation (EU) 2016/679 (GDPR). 

 

5.4.2 The Council may investigate or formally verify any of the information provided in connection 

with any application for assistance. 

 

5.4.3 To progress an application, it may be necessary to share information provided internally 

with other services or other organisations that may assist with the grant process. These 

may include: 

 South Holland District Council – Revenues & Benefits, Planning & Building 

Control. Housing Management. Housing Repairs. 

 Lincolnshire County Council – Adult Social Care or Children’s Services. 

 Relevant Government Departments. 

 

5.4.4 The Council is under a duty to protect public funds and may use the information provided 

for the prevention and detection of fraud. It may also share this information with other 

bodies administering public funds solely for these purposes. 

 

5.4.5 The above information will need to be communicated with applicants at the time their 

personal information is obtained in the form of a Privacy Notice. This is necessary to 

comply with the individual’s ‘Right to be Informed’ per GDPR. 

 

5.4.6 Safeguards will ensure the security of the data and will comply with Article (1) (f) of the 

GDPR. 

 

5.5 Financial 

 

5.5.1 The Better Care Fund is managed by Lincolnshire County Council and is distributed to 

them by the Department of Health and Social Care and the Ministry of Housing, 

Page 86



 

 

Communities and Local Government. The Council receives a variable grant (annually) from 

Lincolnshire County Council to provide housing solutions so that residents of the district 

can manage their health and wellbeing, and live independently in their communities for as 

long as possible. In this current financial year, our allocation was £680,721. 

 

5.5.2 The Council may charge up to a 15% administration fee for any professional/technical 

services or charges incurred relating to work for which the assistance is being sought e.g. 

obtaining proof of ownership, drawing of plans and so on. This fee will be incorporated into 

the relevant total assistance amount. 

 

5.5.2 Funding for other schemes come directly from either the General Fund or the Housing 

Revenue Account. 

 

5.6 Health & Wellbeing 

 

5.6.1 There is a positive link between increasing the supply of housing, along with investing in 

the condition of housing in the district and the broader Health and Wellbeing agenda. 

 

5.7 Staffing 

 

5.7.1 The Housing Assistance Policy will be provided as a generic function across the Private 

Sector Housing Team together with partnerships within Building Control and the wider 

Housing team. 

 

6 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

 

6.1 All 

 

7 ACRONYMS 

 

7.1 DFG= Disabled Facilities Grant 

 

7.2      GDPR= General Data Protection Regulation 

 

7.3      OT= Occupational Therapist 

 

7.4     DHG= Discretionary Housing Grant 

 

7.5     BCF = Better Care Fund 

 

Background papers: -  

 

Lead Contact Officer 

Name and Post: Phil Stacey Housing Options Manager 

Telephone Number  

Email: philstacey@sholland.gov.uk 

 

Key Decision: Y 

 

Exempt Decision: N  

 

Page 87



 

 

This report refers to a Mandatory and Discretionary Service  

 

Appendices attached to this report: Appendix 1: Individual Scheme Details 

 

Appendix 2: Individual Scheme Details Table 

 

 

Page 88



 

 

POLICY TITLE 

 
Housing Assistance Policy – Individual Scheme Details 
 

REVISION DATE 

 
17.03.2020 
 

REPLACES POLICY 

  
Replaces Community Housing Renewal Policy 2006 
 

POLICY AIM 

 

 Increase in the District of both sustainable and suitable accommodation for 
vulnerable persons. 

 An increase in the health and well-being of citizens of South Holland and the 
reputation of the Council. 

 

INDIVIDUAL SCHEME DETAILS 

 

1. Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grants 

 
Purpose: Local housing authorities have a statutory duty to provide grant aid to 
disabled people to undertake a range of adaptations to their homes. 
 
Mandatory disabled facilities grants will be administered per the provisions of the 
Housing Grants, Construction and Regeneration Act 1996. The following provides a 
summary of these provisions but should be read in conjunction with the full Act. 
 
Maximum amount: The maximum amount is £30,000. 
 
Applicant eligibility: There is no age restriction for this grant.  
 
All applicants must be eligible under the Act and there are no age restrictions.  
 
Applications must be supported by a recommendation from an Occupational 
Therapist confirming that the person is disabled for the Act and that the proposed 
works are necessary and appropriate to meet the needs of the disabled person. 
 
Eligible works: The relevant works must be necessary and appropriate to meet the 
needs of the disabled occupant and it must be reasonable and practicable to carry 
out the works having regard to the age and condition of the property.  
 
The purposes for which a grant must be given are detailed in section 23 of the 
Housing Grants Construction and Regeneration Act 1996.  
 
Any associated fees e.g. technical surveys, obtaining proof of title etc. will be 
included in the total assistance amount. 

Page 89



 

 

 
Financial assessment: The grant is subject to a formal means test per the Housing 
Renewal Grants Regulations 1996 to determine the customer’s contribution towards 
the cost of the works.  
 
Eligible works for a child will not be subject to a formal means test.  
 
The maximum grant including any contribution must not exceed £30,000. 
 
Application: Applications must be made in the relevant format and supported by a 
referral from an Occupational Therapist.  
 
The Council will consult the Social Services Authority on all applications. 
 
Applications may be made by owner-occupiers, private tenants and Registered 
Providers of Social Housing.  
 
Tenants of South Holland District Council can apply for mandatory disabled facilities 
grants but funding for any works comes from an allocation set aside in the Housing 
Revenue Account. 
 
The Council will select the contractor from an approved Framework. If the applicant 
chooses to use their contractor, a minimum of two estimates must be submitted with 
the application.  
 
Works must not commence until formal approval of the grant has been received by 
the applicant. 
 
Payment: Payment will be made directly to the contractor upon satisfactory 
completion of the eligible works and approval of invoices.  
 
In some instances, payments may be made in instalments and the balance (no less 
than 10% of the total cost of the eligible works) paid on satisfactory completion. 
 
The applicant must agree and sign that they are satisfied with the quality of the work 
before payment.  
 
If the applicant refuses, the Council will inspect the work and if it believes it is of a 
sufficiently good standard the payment will be made. 
 
Conditions: Written consent from the owner(s) of property must be obtained before 
works commencing. 
 
The Council may remove items of equipment e.g. modular ramps and stair lifts from 
the property for re-use when they are no longer required by the disabled person.  
 
This will be considered on a case by case basis dependent on the age and condition 
of the item.  
 

Page 90



 

 

Where the items are not considered appropriate for re-use it will be the responsibility 
of the householder/property owner to remove any items at their own cost. 
 
Where the Council provides funding above £5,000 that creates additional living 
space e.g. an extension or conversion of a garage or outbuilding, and where the 
applicant has an owner’s interest in the property, this will be registered as a local 
land charge against the adapted property, subject to a maximum of £10,000.  
 
If the property is disposed of within 5 years of the completion of the works (as 
determined by the Council), re-payment of the amount will be required. 
 
The Council will not pay for any additional works carried out without prior approval. 
 
All works must be completed within 12 months of approval. 
 

2. Top Up of Mandatory Disabled Facilities Grant 

 
Purpose: To provide discretionary financial assistance to a disabled person who 
qualifies for a mandatory disabled facilities grant where the cost of the eligible works 
exceeds the mandatory grant maximum of £30,000. 
 
Maximum amount: The maximum top-up is £30,000. 
 
Applicant eligibility: There is no age restriction for this grant. This a discretionary 
grant and is subject to approval and or suspension. 
 
Applicants must have an owner’s interest in the property and the disabled person (if 
different) must qualify for a mandatory disabled facilities grant where the value of the 
eligible works (including the client contribution and any fees if applicable) exceeds 
the mandatory grant maximum.  
 
However, Applicants who receive the discretionary ‘Moving on assistance’ grant will 
not be eligible for this grant. 
 
Eligible works: Works funded by the top-up must be eligible works which are 
necessary and appropriate to meet the disabled person’s needs as defined by the 
Housing Grants Construction and Regeneration Act 1996. 
 
Financial assessment: The top-up will be subject to a formal means test using the 
prescribed test of resources applicable to mandatory disabled facilities grants.  
 
Where the disabled person is a child, the parents/guardians may be means-tested. 
 
Applications: Applications will be considered alongside an application for a 
mandatory disabled facilities grant. 
 
Payment: The discretionary top-up will be paid as an additional amount to the 
mandatory disabled facilities grant under the same payment conditions. 
 

Page 91



 

 

Conditions: Where the applicant has an owner’s interest in the property, the 
discretionary top amount will be registered as a local land charge against the 
adapted property.  
 
If the property is disposed of within 5 years of the completion of the works (as 
determined by the Council), re-payment of the amount will be required. 
 
Works must not commence until formal approval of the discretionary assistance and 
mandatory grant have been received by the applicant. 
 
 

3. Discretionary Disabled Adaptations Assistance 

 
Purpose: To provide discretionary financial assistance for disabled occupants who 
do not have the financial resources to pay for necessary adaptations to help support 
them to remain independent in their home. The discretionary assistance will fund 
minor works for those eligible for a mandatory disabled facilities grant. 
 
Maximum amount: The maximum amount of assistance is £10,000. 
 
Applicant eligibility: There is no age restriction for this grant. This a discretionary 
grant and is subject to approval and or suspension. 
 
The disabled occupant must be eligible under the provisions of the Housing Grants 
Construction and Regeneration Act 1996.  
 
Applications must be supported by a referral from a Lincolnshire County Council 
Occupational Therapist. 
 
Eligible works: The relevant works must be necessary and appropriate to meet the 
needs of the disabled occupant and it must be reasonable and practicable to carry 
out the works having regard to the age and condition of the property.  
 
The purposes for which a grant may be given are those detailed in section 23 of the 
Housing Grants Construction and Regeneration Act 1996.  
 
Any associated fees e.g. technical surveys, obtaining proof of title etc. will be 
included in the total assistance amount. 
 
Financial assessment: There will be no formal means-testing. The following criteria 
will be applied: - 
 

 Less than £16,000 capital, savings and investments 

 Then either for single income no more than £13,400 per annum 

 Couple with or without children and single with children then income for 
customer and partner combined of no more than £20,000 per annum. 

 
Payment: Payment will be made directly to the contractor upon satisfactory 
completion of the eligible works and approval of invoices.  
 

Page 92



 

 

The applicant must agree and sign that they are satisfied with the quality of the work 
before payment.  
 
If the applicant refuses, the Council will inspect the work and if it believes it is of a 
sufficiently good standard the payment will be made. 
 
Conditions: Written consent from the owner(s) of property must be obtained before 
works commencing. 
 
The applicant will self-declare income & saving levels. 
 
The Council may remove items of equipment e.g. modular ramps and stairlifts from 
the property when they are no longer required by the disabled person for re-use.  
 
This will be considered on a case by case basis dependent on the age and condition 
of the item.  
 
Where the items are not considered appropriate for re-use it will be the responsibility 
of the householder/property owner to remove any such items at their own cost. 
 
Only one application for discretionary assistance will be considered in any 12 months 
(taken from the date of approval). 
 
The Council will not pay for any additional works carried out without prior approval. 
 
Where the discretionary funding is no longer available, applications will be 
considered under the provisions of a mandatory disabled facilities grant. 
 

4. Moving on Assistance 

 
Purpose: This discretionary assistance enables disabled people who would be 
eligible for mandatory disabled facilities grants to move to more suitable 
accommodation, where it is considered more appropriate than providing funding 
through mandatory disabled facilities grant to adapt their existing home. 
 
Maximum amount: The maximum amount is £10,000 and may be used in 
conjunction with a mandatory disabled facilities grant to undertake eligible works to 
the new property. 
 
Applicant eligibility: There is no age restriction for this grant. Any disabled person 
who would be eligible for adaptation works under a mandatory disabled facilities 
grant. This a discretionary grant and is subject to approval and or suspension. 
 
Qualifying criteria: A referral for adaptation of the existing property must have been 
received from an Occupational Therapist. 
 
In the Council’s opinion, the existing property must be unsuitable for adaptation, in 
that it is not reasonably and practicably capable of being adapted to meet the needs 
of the disabled person. 
 

Page 93



 

 

The applicant must have or propose to have an owner’s interest in the new property. 
The existing and new properties must be within South Holland District Council’s area 
and be the permanent, main residence of the disabled occupant. 
 
In the opinion of the Council and in conjunction with the Occupational Therapist, the 
new property must be considered suitable for the needs of the disabled person or 
must be reasonably and practicably capable of being adapted to meet the needs of 
the disabled person. 
 
The assistance can be used for the following eligible costs: 

 Legal and ancillary fees 

 Estate agent fees 

 Removal costs 
 
Financial assessment: The assistance is subject to the prescribed test of resources 
applicable to mandatory disabled facilities grants.  
 
Where the disabled person is a child, the parents/legal guardians may be means-
tested. 
 
Payment: Payment will be made to the applicant’s solicitor on the exchange of 
contract so that funding is available for completion. Evidence of the fees will be 
required before payment. 
 
Conditions: This discretionary assistance may only be awarded once. 
 
Where an award has been made under this policy and before the exchange of 
contacts and the disabled person is no longer able to relocate to the new property 
e.g. they have moved into permanent care or deceased, the Council may decide to 
pay all, some or none of the assistance. 
 
The amount of the discretionary funding will be secured by attaching a local land 
charge on the new property.  
 
If the property is disposed of within 5 years of the completion of the purchase (as 
determined by the Council), re-payment of the amount will be required. 
 

5. Hospital Discharge Assistance 

 
Purpose: This assistance is for people in a hospital whose discharge is delayed due 
to the condition of their home.  
 
The assistance may fund urgent adaptations that allow access in and around the 
person’s home by providing stair lifts or ramps.  
 
Other minor works which are needed to facilitate their discharge from hospital will 
also be considered e.g. one-off clearance of hoarded properties and works to 
heating systems. 
 
Maximum amount: The maximum grant is £10,000 

Page 94



 

 

 
Applicant eligibility: There is no age restriction for this grant. The applicant must be in 
a hospital and their discharge delayed. 
 
The application must be accompanied by a referral from a hospital Occupational 
Therapist or other suitably qualified professional confirming the urgent works that are 
required to the home to enable discharge. 
 
The property subject to the application must normally be occupied by the applicant 
permanently. 
 
Eligible works: Eligible works can include, but not exclusively and works will be 
determined on a case by case basis which will facilitate the hospital discharge: 
 

 Stair lifts 

 Ramps and door widening to the essential doorways 

 Heating repairs or improvements 

 Clearance and one-off deep clean of hoarded goods 
 
Financial assessment: This assistance is not subject to a means test. 
 
Payment: The Council will appoint contractors to undertake the work and will pay 
them directly on the production of satisfactory invoices.  
 
The applicant must agree and sign that they are satisfied with the quality of the work 
before payment.  
 
If the applicant refuses, the Council will inspect the work and if it believes it is of a 
sufficiently good standard the payment will be made. 
 
Conditions: Written consent from the owner(s) of property should be obtained before 
works commencing, however, if no structural works are being undertaken this will not 
be necessary, e.g. cleaning a property. 
 
If the cost of the works exceeds the maximum financial assistance the Council will 
liaise with the Occupational Therapist and/or relevant professionals to determine the 
priority works. 
 
The Council will not pay for any additional works carried out without prior approval. 
 

6. Safe, Warm and Well 

 
Purpose: This assistance is for owner-occupiers over the age of 65 or those with 
chronic or severe health conditions affected by poor housing conditions who need to 
undertake essential repairs to their home to remain safe and healthy. 
 
Maximum amount: The maximum amount is £10,000. 
 

Page 95



 

 

Applicant eligibility: The applicant must be an owner-occupier or private tenant with a 
full repairing responsibility. This a discretionary grant and is subject to approval and 
or suspension. 
 
The applicant or a family member living with them must be an occupier over the age 
of 65 or have a chronic or severe condition exacerbated by the cold or poor housing 
conditions.  
 
Evidence of the condition will be required e.g. letter/referral from a General 
Practitioner or other relevant health professional.  
 
Examples of relevant conditions include: 

 Arthritis (osteo and rheumatoid, requiring regular treatment and review) 

 Cardiovascular disease (for example heart disease or stroke) 

 Respiratory disease (for example chronic bronchitis, severe asthma, 
emphysema or chronic obstructive pulmonary disease) 

 
Eligible works: Essential repairs are determined as a Category 1 (serious) or 
significant Category 2 (other) hazards as determined by the Housing Act 2004, which 
affects the ability of the property to be safe, wind and weatherproof. This a 
discretionary grant and is subject to approval and or suspension. 
 
Examples of works may include: 

 Heating repairs or replacement 

 Works to prevent falls 

 Roof repairs 
 
Any associated fees e.g. technical surveys, obtaining proof of title etc. will be 
included in the total assistance amount. 
 
All properties will be subject to inspection and assessment by the Council or its 
agent. 
 
Financial assessment: There will be no formal means-testing.  
 
The following criteria will be applied: - 
 

 Less than £16,000 capital, savings and investments 

 Then either for single income no more than £13,400 per annum 

 Couple with or without children and single with children then income for 
customer and partner combined of no more than £20,000 per annum  

 
Payment: The Council will appoint a contractor to undertake the eligible works.  
 
Payment will be made directly to the contractor upon satisfactory completion of the 
eligible works and approval of invoices.  
 
The applicant must agree and sign that they are satisfied with the quality of the work 
before payment.  
 

Page 96



 

 

If the applicant refuses, the Council will inspect the work and if it believes it is of a 
sufficiently good standard the payment will be made. 
 
Conditions: The applicant must have lived in the property for a minimum of 12 
months as their main residence. 
 
 Written consent from the owner(s) of property must be obtained before works 
commencing. 
 
The applicant will self-declare income & saving levels. 
 
Only one application for assistance will be considered within any 3 years (further 
applications may be considered at the discretion of a relevant senior officer in 
exceptional circumstances). 
 
The Council will not consider applications in respect of dwellings which have been 
built or converted less than 10 years from the date of application. 
 
Where works beyond the maximum assistance value are identified, the assistance 
will be prioritised based upon the hazard score and circumstances of the applicant. 
 
Works must be reasonable and practicable having regard to the age and condition of 
the property. 
 
Where the applicant has an owner’s interest in the property, this will be registered as 
a local land charge against the adapted property.  
 
If the property is disposed of within 5 years of the completion of the works (as 
determined by the Council), re-payment of the amount will be required. 
 
The Council will not pay for any additional works carried out without prior approval. 
 
 

7. Central Heating Scheme 

 
Purpose: The scheme will provide a Central heating system of suitable design and 
installation a homeowner with vulnerable occupiers, where previously there has been 
no such system, or where the existing system, in the opinion of the 
contractor/surveyor, cannot be effectively repaired at reasonable cost or where it has 
been condemned by a suitably competent person. 
 
Maximum amount: The maximum amount is £10,000. 
 
Applicant eligibility: The applicant must be an owner-occupier. The property must 
have an EPC rating of D or below. This a discretionary grant and is subject to 
approval and or suspension. 
 
The applicant must be over the age of 65 or the property have children 14 years or 
under or have an occupier with a chronic or severe condition exacerbated by the 
cold or poor housing conditions.  

Page 97



 

 

 
Declaration of the condition will be required.  
 
Examples of relevant conditions include: 

 Arthritis (osteo and rheumatoid, requiring regular treatment and review) 

 Cardiovascular disease (for example heart disease or stroke) 

 Respiratory disease (for example chronic bronchitis, severe asthma, 
emphysema or chronic obstructive pulmonary disease) 

 
Eligible works: Due to the possible vulnerable nature of the recipients of the scheme 
it is proposed that the scheme will be a one-stop-shop that caters for but not limited 
to:  

 Design and Installation and first annual service of a whole house Central 
Heating System to meet the needs of the homeowner/occupier  

 Associated electrical check and upgrade to comply with Building Regulations 
and Manufacturer’s instructions 

 Associated building work/Access as required  

 Where necessary the Moving/Storage of furniture, removal and relaying of 
carpets  

 Where disturbed the making good of internal decoration in line with the works 
carried out. 

 
Any associated fees e.g. technical surveys, obtaining proof of title etc. will be 
included in the total assistance amount. 
 
All properties will be subject to inspection and assessment by the Council or its 
agent. 
 
Financial assessment: There will be no formal means-testing.  
 
The following criteria will be applied: - 
 

 Less than £16,000 capital, savings and investments 

 Then either for single income no more than £13,400 per annum 

 Couple with or without children and single with children then income for 
customer and partner combined of no more than £20,000 per annum  

 
Payment: The Council will appoint a contractor to undertake the eligible works.  
 
Payment will be made directly to the contractor upon satisfactory completion of the 
eligible works and approval of invoices.  
 
The applicant must agree and sign that they are satisfied with the quality of the work 
before payment. 
 
If the applicant refuses, the Council will inspect the work and if it believes it is of a 
sufficiently good standard the payment will be made. 
 

Page 98



 

 

Conditions: The applicant must have lived in the property for a minimum of 12 
months as their main residence.  
 
The applicant will self-declare income & saving levels.  
 
Owner’s written consent for the works to be carried out at the property will be 
obtained before works commencing on site.  
 
Where the applicant has an owner’s interest in the property, this will be registered as 
a local land charge against the adapted property.  
 
If the property is disposed of within 5 years of the completion of the works (as 
determined by the Council), re-payment of the amount will be required. 
 
The Council will not pay for any additional works carried out without prior approval. 
 

8. Emergency Housing Grant Scheme (Extreme Weather) 

 
Purpose: This assistance will provide immediate assistance to owner-occupiers 
where works are needed to make the dwelling wind and weatherproof or to reduce a 
hazard. 
 
Maximum amount: The maximum funding is £2,000, except for other structures i.e.: 
caravans; where the limit is £750 
 
Applicant eligibility: The applicant shall have an “owner’s interest” in the dwelling 
subject to the application unless they are a lifelong tenant. This a discretionary grant 
and is subject to approval and or suspension. 
 
No application will be considered where the applicant has lived in and owned the 
dwelling for less than 5 years from the day of the application. 
 
However, where the applicant’s circumstances have changed since acquiring the 
dwelling then the Council may decide to set aside the 5-year requirement in cases of 
hardship. 
 
Eligible works: Works eligible for assistance will be at the discretion of the council.  
 
As a general condition, the works should help remedy defects or deficiencies which 
have a direct impact upon health.  
 
The purpose of the works will be to secure an immediate remedy and not necessarily 
for reducing long term maintenance costs.  
 
Building regulation or legitimate project management fees may be included (within 
the grant maximum). 
 
Financial assessment: Grant aid is targeted to people who cannot afford to repair 
their own homes. There will be no formal means-testing. 
 

Page 99



 

 

Payment: The Council will appoint a contractor or work with a third party to 
undertake the eligible works.  
 
Payment will be made directly to the contractor upon satisfactory completion of the 
eligible works and approval of invoices. 
 
Conditions: It must be reasonable and practicable to undertake the works. 
 
No requirement is made for the written consent of all joint owners as a condition of 
grant approval. 
 
The applicant is not required to enter into a deed agreement with the Council. 
 
All works must be completed within 3 months of the grant being approved. 
 
There are no grant conditions concerning future occupation and repayment. 
 
If the owner disposes of the property after the completion of the works, there is no 
obligation to repay the grant. 
 
Where an applicant makes more than one application for a grant in respect of the 
same dwelling then it will not be accepted unless the period between the completion 
of the previous grant and the application for the succeeding grant is at least 9 
months. 
 
No more than 2 applications will be accepted from the same applicant in respect of 
one address in any 5 years. 
 

9. Home and Family Support Grant 

 
Purpose: This assistance will provide appropriate aids and adaptations to enable 
people with a diagnosis of, or who are, suffering from life-changing conditions and/or 
on end of life care, to manage their surroundings and retain their independence and 
dignity. 
 
Maximum amount: The maximum funding is £10,000 
 
Applicant eligibility: Applicants can be owner-occupiers, private tenants, and council 
tenants or register provider’s tenants with a clinical diagnosis and referred by a 
General Practitioner, relevant Support worker or other relevant health professionals, 
confirming the works which are necessary and appropriate to support them to retain 
their independence and dignity. 
 
Eligible works: The Council will work with the relevant health professional to 
determine appropriate works on a case by case basis. This a discretionary grant and 
is subject to approval and or suspension. 
 
Financial assessment: This assistance is not subject to a means test. 
 

Page 100



 

 

Payment: The Council will appoint a contractor or work with a third party to 
undertake the eligible works.  
 
Payment will be made directly to the contractor upon satisfactory completion of the 
eligible works and approval of invoices. 
 
Conditions: It must be reasonable and practicable to undertake the works 
. 
All works must relate to the applicant's needs and assist them to remain in their 
home independently for a longer period. 
 
Only one application will be considered within any 3 years. 
 

10. Sanctuary Scheme 

 
Purpose: This assistance will provide an occupier who is at risk of domestic abuse to 
improve the security arrangements of their home. 
 
Maximum amount: The maximum funding is up to £1,000 
 
Applicant eligibility: Where an appropriate officer of the Council is satisfied that one 
or more persons has suffered from, or is threatened by domestic abuse. This a 
discretionary grant and is subject to approval and or suspension. 
 
Eligible works: The assistance provided will likely be in the form of security 
measures, such as door and window locks, security lighting although other 
recommendations for example: from an Independent Domestic Violence Advisor or 
Police Officer, may be considered. 
 
Financial assessment: This assistance is not subject to a means test. 
 
Payment: The Council will appoint a contractor or work with a third party to 
undertake the eligible works.  
 
Payment will be made directly to the contractor upon satisfactory completion of the 
eligible works and approval of invoices. 
 
Conditions: It must be reasonable and practicable to undertake the works. 
 

11. Homelessness Grant Assistance 

 
Purpose: This grant assistance will provide homeless persons with options to 
prevent their homelessness. This is to assist the Council to discharge its Statutory 
Homelessness duties. 
 
Maximum amount: Funding is up to £5000 although, under exceptional 
circumstances as described below, this maximum amount can be exceeded. 
 

Page 101



 

 

Applicant eligibility: This applies to any eligible applicant that makes an application 
to the Council under Part 7 of the Housing Act 1996 (the Act). This a discretionary 
grant and is subject to approval and or suspension. 
 
Those who are ineligible for housing assistance under section 185 of the Act will not 
be eligible for any assistance under this grant. 
 
In discharging the Council’s statutory homelessness duties, relevant officers are 
hereby delegated to offer applicants financial assistance up to the maximum values 
set out within this policy.  
 
To be made an offer of financial assistance, the delegated officer will need to be 
satisfied that there is a reasonable prospect of accommodation remaining or 
becoming available to the applicant and their household for at least six 
months. 
 
Applicants who are eligible for housing assistance under section 185 of the Act but 
who do not have a local connection to the Council’s area under section 199 of the 
Act, may be eligible to receive an offer of financial assistance up to a maximum 
value of £200. 
 
Applicants who are eligible for housing assistance under section 185 of the Act and 
who have a local connection to the Council’s area under section 199 of the Act may 
be eligible to receive an offer of financial assistance directly from front line case 
officers up to a maximum value of £2,000. 
 
Where a case officer considers it lawful, reasonable, justified and proportionate for 
the Council to offer more than £2,000 financial assistance to an applicant in 
discharge of the Council’s statutory homelessness functions, they shall refer the 
matter to their Team Leader, Housing Options Manager or Housing Services 
Landlord Manager for consideration who are hereby delegated to authorise offers of 
financial support as follows: 
 
Team Leader: up to £3000 
 
Housing Options Manager/Housing Services Landlord Manager: up to £5000 
 
In exceptional circumstances, the Housing Services Landlord Manager may consult 
with the portfolio holder about offering assistance above £5,000, documenting the 
exceptional circumstances accordingly. 
 
Examples of the type of lawful, reasonable, justified and proportionate financial 
assistance delegated officers may offer includes, but is not limited to: 
 

 Paying rent in advance or paying a deposit 

 Paying off rent, mortgage or other arrears 

 Paying for travel and transport 

 Paying for urgent repairs 

 Paying for legal advice 

Page 102



 

 

 Purchasing a basic starter pack of goods and/or furniture to take up 
accommodation 

 
When considering any offer, those delegated will undertake/consider an appropriate 
financial assessment of the applicant’s circumstances to determine whether 
assistance will be offered in the form of a grant or repayable loan. 
 
The value, purpose and form of any financial assistance offered will be made at the 
sole discretion of delegated officers.  
 
Any previously accepted offers of assistance to customers under this policy will be 
taken into consideration by officers. 
 
Eligible Assistance: The assistance provided will be flexible and can include 
payments as described above. 
 
Financial assessment: This assistance is not subject to a means test. Note: monies 
offered under this Grant will be funded through the Housing General Fund. 
 
Payment: The Council will make payment to an agent, landlord or any other 
appropriate agency. 
 
In the event of monies being paid to secure or sustain accommodation, funding will 
only be issued when the appropriate documentation is received from the applicant 
 
Conditions: The award must result in the prevention of homeless and/or that there is 
a reasonable prospect of any accommodation secured, remaining or becoming 
available to the applicant and their household for at least six months. 
 

12. Empty Homes Grant 

 
Purpose: To complete repairs on their property or deal with issues such as garden 
and house clearances so they can bring the property back into use. In exceptional 
circumstances, grants may be offered where it is in SHDC’s interest to carry out 
improvements to the property. 
 
Maximum amount: Up to £10,000 is available per application based on the lower of 
the three estimates submitted by the applicant. In exceptional circumstances, the 
Housing Services Landlord Manager may consult with the portfolio holder about 
offering assistance over £10,000, documenting the exceptional circumstances 
accordingly 
 
Applicant eligibility: The applicant must be an owner-occupier. This a discretionary 
grant and is subject to approval and or suspension. 
 
Eligible works: Works eligible for assistance will be at the discretion of the council.  
 
As a general condition, the works should help remedy defects or deficiencies which 
will result in the empty home being bought back into use.  
 

Page 103



 

 

Building regulation or legitimate project management fees may be included (within 
the grant maximum). 
 
Financial assessment: All applications will be means-tested, and the applicant may 
be required to contribute towards the cost of the works. Note: monies offered under 
this grant will be are funded through the Housing General Fund. 
 
Payment: It is the responsibility of the applicant to obtain Planning Permission or 
Building Regulation consent where necessary. 
 
Fees will only be paid when details are submitted as part of the application and in 
approved circumstances. 
 
Conditions: Where the applicant has an owner’s interest in the property, this will be 
registered as a local land charge against the adapted property.  
 
If the property is disposed of within 5 years of the completion of the works (as 
determined by the Council), re-payment of the amount will be required. 
 
The Council will not pay for any additional works carried out without prior approval. 

 

13. HOUSING SERVICES FUND 

 
Purpose: Assistance to SHDC tenants when emergencies occur and intervention 
can maintain their tenancy and/or prevent their homelessness 
 
Maximum amount: Up to £10,000 is available per application based on individual 
circumstances. In exceptional circumstances, the Housing Services Landlord 
Manager may consult with the portfolio holder about offering assistance over 
£10,000, documenting the exceptional circumstances accordingly 
 
Applicant eligibility: The applicant must be an SHDC tenant. This a discretionary 
grant and is subject to approval and or suspension. 
 
Eligible works: Works eligible for assistance will be at the discretion of the council.  
 
As a general condition; the works should help remedy emergencies such as small 
scale fires, floods, or other emergencies and either supports the tenants in 
maintaining their existing tenancy, or assist in preventing a statutory 
homelessness presentation. 
 
Financial assessment: No applications will be means-tested as we are delivering 
our duties as a social landlord. Note: monies offered under this fund will be met 
through the Housing Revenue Account. 
 
Payment: Fees will only be paid when details are submitted as part of the 
assessment and in approved circumstances. 
 
Conditions: There must be a verified incident that would benefit an SHDC tenant 
and/or the Council by the payment from this fund.  

Page 104



 

 

 
The Council will not pay for any additional works carried out without prior approval. 
 

Page 105



 

 

14. HOUSING TENANCY SUSTAINABILITY FUND 

 
Purpose: Assistance to support economically vulnerable tenants impacted by 
COVID-19 where no other source of financial assistance is available such as 
access to Discretionary Housing Payment or DWP funds. 
 
Maximum amount: Assistance will have a ceiling of £500 per household and 
limited to one application 
 
Applicant eligibility: Applicants may be eligible to be considered for support if they 
meet all of the following criteria: 

 They are a Council tenant 

 Their household income has been affected by COVID-19  

 They have applied for DHP/DWP funds and have been refused or Housing 
Officers are satisfied that they do not meet the criteria to apply to these 
funds 

 They are committed to take steps to find a long term solution to their 
financial issues such as seeking debt advice.     

 
It is the responsibility of the tenant to provide evidence required.  Cases will not be 
considered if necessary evidence is not provided. This a discretionary grant and is 
subject to approval and or suspension. 
 
Eligible works: Works eligible for assistance will be at the discretion of the council. 
These may include but are not limited to:  
 

 Assistance with legal fees for Domestic/Racial Abuse cases where no other 
assistance is available (including Legal Aid) in order to protect the tenant   

 Funding of skips to assist with hoarding concerns (whilst the tips are 
closed)  

 Removal fees for an essential house move or for disposal of furniture 
following the death of a tenant 

 Payment of up to four weeks rent where the tenant is self-
employed/working.  This to allow them time to adjust their outgoings and 
consolidate usual expenses/give notice on items such as Sky TV etc. 
(Evidence of circumstances will be required)  

 Payment of up to £200 for utility meter debt to complete a gas service 
where the household is vulnerable 

 Up to £50 to purchase an online delivery supermarket pass where tenants 
are self-isolating  

 One off £100 payment towards increased utility costs whilst remaining at 
home  

 One off £100 payment towards increased food costs if children/vulnerable 
people in household 

 One off £100 towards mobile phone data (where they do not have 
broadband) and are working from home/home-schooling   

 One off £200 towards the cost of additional resources needed for providing 
temporary accommodation (in their home) to vulnerable family members 
during the lockdown period e.g. elderly parents  

Page 106



 

 

 One off £100 payment towards increased transport costs if caring for a 
family member that is shielding.    

 
Financial assessment: It is proposed that £50,000 is made available to fulfil this 
policy.  This money will come from Housing Revenue Account reserves.  Any 
requests for further funding will be submitted to the Section 151 Officer by the 
Housing Landlord Services Manager following approval from the Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and Health.     

Payment: Fees will only be paid when details are submitted as part of the 
assessment and in approved circumstances. 
 
Conditions: Assistance will vary on a case by case basis and cases will be 
recommended by a Housing Neighbourhood Officer.   
 
The Housing Neighbourhood Officer will present applications on the tenant’s 
behalf to the Housing Services Manager.  The Housing Services Manager will 
review the application and approve payment for those that meet the criteria.   
 
All circumstances will be considered provided they meet the primary objective of 
sustaining a tenancy, the hardship is as a result of COVID-19 and there is no 
other public funding available to assist.   
. 
 

WHO IS AFFECTED BY THE POLICY? 

 
Owners and leaseholders of properties, homeless persons and SHDC tenants within 
the South Holland district.   
 
 

IMPLEMENTATION 

 
The implementation of this policy will be carried out by the Housing Options within 
Housing.  The Housing Options Manager, and ultimately the Housing Landlord 
Services Manager, will be accountable for ensuring the policy is implemented 
effectively.   
 
However, for the policy to be effective, we recognise that it is necessary to adopt a 
corporate approach.  Services within the Council that will be involved are: 
 

 Communities Team 

 Planning & Development 

 Housing Options Team 

 Housing Management 

 Customer Services 

 Benefits and Revenues Team 
 
 

Page 107



 

 

MONITORING 

 
The policy will be monitored in the following ways: 
 

MONITORING ACTIVITY PERSON RESPONSIBLE 

Check to see if the policy has been 
implemented effectively 

Housing Landlord Services Manager 

Review the Policy annually Housing Options Manager 

 
 

POLICY CONSULTATION 

 
 

POLICY APPROVAL 

 
This policy was approved by Cabinet on  
 
 
 

RELATED POLICIES & STRATEGIES 

 
South Holland District Council’s Empty Homes Strategy 
Appendix 2 Housing Assistance Policy – Individual Scheme Details Table 
Lincolnshire Homelessness Strategy 2017-2021 
 
 

 

 

Page 108



 

APPENDIX 2 – INDIVIDUAL SCHEME DETAILS TABLE 

Type of assistance  

 

Means 

Test  

Local 

Land 

Charge 

Mandatory/ 

Discretionary 

Service 
Area/Activity 

Key Outcome Max. Funding 

Disabled Facilities 

Grant (DFG)  

Y  

formal  

Y  Mandatory  DFG Adaptations to enable 

independent living  

£30,000  

DFG top-up  Y  

formal  

Y  Discretionary  DFG Top up of mandatory DFG 

which exceeds grant limit  

£30,000  

Disabled Adaptation 

Assistance  

(Fast – track 

adaptations ) 

Y  

Self-

certified  

N  Discretionary  DFG Minor adaptations for those 

eligible for a DFG without 

formal means testing  

£10,000  

Moving on Assistance  Y  

formal  

Y  Discretionary  DFG 

Homelessness 

Financial assistance to 

move to more suitable 

accommodation  

£10,000  

Hospital Discharge 

Assistance  

N  N  Discretionary  DFG 

Homelessness 

Prevent delayed transfers of 

care associated with 

housing disrepair or access 

issues  

£10,000  

P
age 109



 

Safe, Warm and Well  Y  

Self-

certified  

Y  Discretionary  DFG 

Homelessness 

Minor essential repairs to 

make homes safe for 

vulnerable owner-occupiers  

£10,000  

Central Heating 

Scheme  

Y  

Self-

certified  

Y  Discretionary  DFG 

Homelessness 

To provide a central heating 

system of suitable design 

and installation for owner-

occupiers who are either 

vulnerable or suffer a health 

condition exacerbated by 

cold.  

£10,000  

Emergency Housing 

Grant Scheme 

(Extreme Weather)  

N  N  Discretionary  DFG 

Homelessness 

To enable owner-occupiers 

to manage the immediate 

repairs which are giving rise 

to conditions which directly 

impact upon health.  

£2,000  

Type of assistance  

 

Means  

Test  

Local 

Land 

Charge 

Mandatory/ 

Discretionary 

 Key Outcome Max. Funding 

Home and Family 

Support Grant 

N  N  Discretionary  DFG 

Homelessness 

To enable people with a 

diagnosis of, or who are, 

suffering from life-changing 

conditions and on end of life 

care to manage their 

£10,000  

P
age 110



 

surroundings and retain 

their independence and 

dignity. 

Sanctuary Scheme  N  N  Discretionary  DFG 

Homelessness 

This assistance will provide 

an occupier who is at risk of 

domestic abuse to improve 

the security arrangements of 

their home. 

 £1,000 

Homelessness Grant N N Discretionary Homelessness Prevent Homelessness £5000+ (in 

exceptional 

circumstances) 

Empty Homes Grant Y Y Discretionary Homelessness 

Empty Homes 

Assist in bringing an empty 
home back into use 

£10,000+ (in 
exceptional 
circumstances) 

Housing Services 
Fund 

N N Discretionary Homelessness Assistance to SHDC tenants 
when emergencies occur 
and intervention can 
maintain their tenancy 
and/or prevent their 
homelessness 

£10,000+ (in 
exceptional 
circumstances) 

Housing Tenancy 
Sustainability Fund 

N N Discretionary Housing Assistance to support 
economically vulnerable 
tenants impacted by 
COVID-19 where no other 
source of financial 
assistance is available such 

Limit to 1 
application of 
£500 
maximum 

P
age 111



 

as access to Discretionary 
Housing Payment or DWP 
funds. 

 

P
age 112



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Report of: Charlotte Paine – Environmental Services Manager  

  

To: Policy Development Panel Tuesday, 15 September 2020, Cabinet Tuesday, 27 

October 2020 

 

(Author: Charlotte Paine Environmental Services Manager) 

 

Subject Market Trader Fees 

 

Purpose: To propose a new fee structure for Spalding market traders  

 

 
Recommendation: 
 
1) That the proposed new market trader fees come into effect from 1st December 2020 

following Cabinet approval 
 

 

1.0 BACKGROUND 

 

1.1 The cabinet report of 16th June, outlined the re-opening of markets with significant changes 

to arrangements post the Covid lockdown and introduced the recommendation to review 

the fees traders paid in Spalding. In the following weeks, the report went to PDP, Cabinet 

and lastly Council in July. 

 

1.2 As the original report suggested, due to the change in arrangements a review of the fees, 

which were higher in Spalding due to the previous stall provision, would be required. The 

original report referenced some benchmarking that was undertaken to establish a suitable 

charge for Spalding market by comparison to charges at other local markets.  

 

1.3 The changes that were proposed in the original cabinet report (16th June) were to move 

from £17.40 that was charged for a 2.4m stall, as previously provided by SHDC, to £11.20 

for an equivalent size 2.4m stall that traders would supply themselves (£14.00 for a 3m 

pitch).  

 

1.4 We have undertaken benchmarking work to understand charges in other local markets and 

establish whether the fees proposed should be reviewed further. 

 

1.5 Below is the benchmarking that was undertaken which does show that the proposed fees 

remain competitive.  

 

Market Casual Regular 

Spalding - Proposed 16th June £1.90 per foot  £1.40 per foot 

Kings Lynn Tuesday £2.23 per foot £1.52 per foot 

Kings Lynn Saturday £1.92 per foot £1.31 per foot 

Wisbech 
£2.03 per foot* 
(or less if 6m or bigger pitch) 

£1.22 per foot* 
(or less if 6m or bigger pitch) 

 

Page 113

Agenda Item 13.



1.6 It is worth noting that Kings Lynn provide the option for traders to purchase a parking 

permits whereas in Spalding we have provided traders car parking permits for free, 

equivalent to £3 per market day. 

 

1.7 Taking the above into account, you can also see that Kings Lynn Charge differently for their 

Tuesday and Saturday markets which provided some thought as to whether it may be 

appropriate to consider altering the charges for Spalding Tuesday and Saturday markets, in 

a similar way. This is because we are aware that there are differences in the footfall and 

trader numbers on these days. 

 

2.0 OPTIONS 

 

2.1 Option One – reconsider the market fees for Spalding in line with the above 

benchmarking exercise that has been undertaken. This option allows us to make the fees 

the most competitive to current market conditions, for example to reduce the fees on 

Saturdays whilst the Market Towns Programme works to make Saturdays more attractive 

to traders and competitive with other markets. This is the recommended option of this 

report. 

 

2.2 The recommended fees would therefore be; 

 

Market Casual Regular 

Spalding Tuesday £1.40 per foot  £1.20 per foot 

Spalding Saturday £1.30 per foot £0.90 per foot 

*Long Sutton/ Crowland/ Holbeach £0.61 per foot £0.51 per foot 

 

2.3 Option Two – do nothing and leave fees at the rate agreed at the original cabinet 

meeting on 16th June. This option provides static charges for Tuesday and Saturdays and is 

still competitive when parking fees and permits are considered.  

 

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S) 

 

3.1 The earlier meetings that discussed the market and stall provision raised the issue 

regarding the equity of the fees and previously, where stalls were provided, the fees were 

required to be higher as we looked to recoup some of the cost of stalls provision. 

  

3.2 Now that stalls are not being provided, the fees require a review to ensure they are a 

competitive and attract traders to our markets. Alongside this, the differences in our 

markets must be acknowledged. Spalding can attract a higher footfall on a Tuesday than 

our other markets but on a Saturday we have seen reduced traders and footfall. 

 

3.3 The recommended option is to consider these differences and charge appropriately for 

them, as observed in other local markets and how they set out their fees.  

 

3.4 Another difference in our markets is the availability of parking for traders. In Spalding 

regular traders are provided a permit for free parking on market days as part of their offer 

with SHDC. Therefore, the charges in Spalding should reflect some form of payment 

towards this. The recommended option provides a payment for subsidised parking permits 

within their regular trader fees.  

 

Page 114



4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 

 

4.1 Option one provides the benefit of reviewing the figures and aligning them closer to other 

local markets with the decision of the recent council meeting having been made. This 

ensures that charges are better aligned to the service that is now being provided. 

 

4.2 The recommendation also provides, for the first time, fees that are reflective of the 

circumstances of individual markets, for example charging different rates on Tuesday and 

Saturdays and fess reflecting advantages such as parking permits. 

 

4.3 The future of the markets will be considered in line with the ongoing Market Town 

Programme, the future of the fees would also continue to be reviewed as part of this work 

and the improvements made in the town centre.  

 

4.4 Since the markets re-opened post lockdown, the market fees have been free and are 

currently due to remain free until the end of August 2020. Whilst we undertake the scrutiny 

of these recommendations and the approval at cabinet, the free period has been extended 

for 3 months, until end of November 2020. 

 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS 

 

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 

decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;  

Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Data Protection; 

Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk 

Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; 

Transformation Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be 

implications under one or more of these headings, these are identified below. 

 

5.1 Financial 

 

5.1.1 The recommendation will have a financial impact as it does reduce the fees further and 

therefore reduce potential income. However, this is deemed appropriate as the services 

have reduced and given the benchmarking work that was undertaken. In addition to this, 

the fees are looking to be set at a rate that also supports the traders and attracts new 

traders to the markets. 

 

5.1.2 With the current trader numbers, assumptions have been made regarding potential income 

for the remaining four months of 2020/21 and for a full financial year as follows; 

 

Market Pitch Costs - £1.40 Pitch Costs - £1.20 Pitch Costs - £0.51 

Spalding Tue (weekly) £309.40 £265.20 £112.71 

4 months estimated income £4,950.40 £4,243.20 £1,803.36 

12 months estimated income £16,088.80 £13,790.40 £5,860.92 

 
 
 
 

   

Page 115



Market Pitch Costs - £1.30 Pitch Costs - £0.90 Pitch Costs - £0.51 

Spalding Sat (weekly) £221.00 £153.00 £86.70 

4 months estimated income £3,536.00 £2,448.00 £1,387.20 

12 months estimated income £11,492.00 £7,956.00 £4,508.40 

 

5.1.3 The above tables show the differences between each of the possible charges. It highlights 

that annually there are large differences on income that can be achieved depending upon 

the fees chosen. Saturday income in particular could be improved further by attracting more 

traders, which a reduced rate should help to do in hand with the Market Town Programme. 

 

5.1.4 The benefits that can be seen by subsidising parking within the fees are detailed below. 

Without this subsidy, traders would see prices for parking each week 335%-669% higher 

yearly.  

 

Car Parking Permits 
Yearly All Day 

Charge (£3) 

Yearly Permit 
within Proposed 

Fees 
Yearly Saving 

for Traders 

Spalding Tuesday £156.00 £35.88 £120.12 

Spalding Saturday £156.00 £20.28 £135.72 

Total £312.00 £56.16 £225.84 

 

 

5.2 Reputation 

 

5.2.1 The markets are an important part of the heritage of Spalding and ensuring their ability to 

survive and thrive post Covid is important. Setting fees appropriately will support traders 

and enable the council to continue to deliver our markets. 

 

5.3 Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales 

 

5.3.1 The traders have contacted via their representative and have expressed a desire to have 

fees in line with those charged at our other markets. These views have been considered 

and the fees proposed are reduced further due to this contact from traders.  

 

5.3.2 The fees are not the same as the other markets given the benefits that Spalding traders get 

from free parking permits which we have greatly subsidised in the newly proposed fees. 

 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 

 

6.1 All  

 

7.0 ACRONYMS 

 

7.1 SHDC – South Holland District Council 

 

Background papers:- Cabinet Report 16th June 

 

Lead Contact Officer 

Page 116



Name and Post: Charlotte Paine Environmental Services Manager 

Telephone Number  

Email: cpaine@sholland.gov.uk 

 

Key Decision: N  

 

Exempt Decision: N  

 

This report refers to a Discretionary Service  

 

 

Page 117



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 

 

Report of: Executive Manager - Governance (Deputy Monitoring Officer) 

  

To: Policy Development Panel – 15 September 2020 

 

(Author: Christine Morgan - Democratic Services Officer, Democratic Services Officer) 

 

Subject Policy Development Panel Work Programme 

 

Purpose: To set out the Work Programme of the Policy Development Panel  

 

 
Recommendation:  
 
That the Panel gives consideration to the report and identifies any issues for discussion. 
 

 

1.0 BACKGROUND 
 
1.1  Background 
 
1.1.1 This report records the issues for consideration that have been identified by the Panel for 

inclusion on its Work Programme. 
 
1.2  Issues 
 
1.2.1 Appendix A sets out the dates of future Panel meetings along with proposed items for 

consideration.  These items were either originally suggested by councillors or are being 
referred to the Panel from officers or the Cabinet.  This appendix will be updated as new 
items are identified. 

 
1.2.2 Appendix B sets out the task groups that have been identified by the Panel.  The table 

shows: 
 

 The name of the task group 

 What it wants to achieve 

 Key dates 

 Membership of the task group 

 When the task group will be reporting back to the Panel 
 
1.2.3 It is hoped that in presenting the information in this way, and by having the report as a 

standing item on the agenda, it will record the issues identified by the Panel and provide 
the opportunity for councillors to monitor the progress of its Work Programme. 

 
2.0  OPTIONS 
 
2.1 To note and consider the current status of the Work Programme. 
 
2.2 To do nothing. 

 

 

Page 119

Agenda Item 14.



3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 
 
3.1 To allow councillors to feed into the Panel’s calendar of Work Programme items and the  
 Work Programme on a regular basis, to ensure that they stay relevant and up to date. 
 
4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
4.1 The calendar of Work Programme items and the Work Programme will provide councillors  
 with up to date and relevant information.  Timelines for various calendar items and 
 proposed task groups within the Work Programme are included within the appendices. 
 
5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
 In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 

 decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues;  

 Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 

 Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 

 Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation 

 Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under 

 one or more of these headings, these are identified below. 

5.1 Corporate Priorities 

5.1.1 In identifying issues for inclusion on the work programme, councillors consider the 

 suitability of the subject, taking into account such considerations as whether the issue is 

 strategic and significant and whether it is likely to lead to effective outcomes.  One of the 

 indicators against which each potential task group is considered identifies how strongly the 

 topic links to the Council's key aims and priorities. 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
6.1 This report has no implications however, as individual items are progressed through the 

Work Programme, their impact on wards and communities will be assessed. 
 
7.0 ACRONYMS  
 
7.1  None. 

Background papers:- None 

 

Lead Contact Officer 

Name and Post: Christine Morgan Democratic Services Officer, Democratic Services 

Officer 

Telephone Number 01775 764454 

Email: cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk, angelita.franklin@sholland.gov.uk 

 

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No  

 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service  

 

Appendices attached to this report:  

Appendix A Work Programme Calendar 2020/21 

Appendix B Task Group Work Programme 2020/21 

Page 120



 
APPENDIX A 

 
Policy Development Panel – Calendar of Work Programme items 

 

Date of 
Meeting 

Agenda items 

15 
September 
2020 

 Policy Register – standing agenda item.  

 Review of Lettings Policy for SHDC’s Industrial Units – To put 
forward a revised Lettings Policy for Industrial Sites 

 Empty Homes Strategy – To target owners of long term empty 
properties in order to increase the availability of properties to rent or 
buy and regenerate the area. 

 Housing Assistance Policy – To update policies and enable South 
Holland District Council to further assist a range of vulnerable and/or 
disadvantaged households 

 Tenancy Management Policy – To approve the Tenancy 
Management Policy 

 Market Trader Fees 
 

4 November 
2020 

 Policy Register – standing agenda item.   

 AHM – Collections Development Policy 

 AHM – Collections Care and Conservation Policy 

 Planning Design Task Group Final Report – updated following 
further work by the Task Group, as agreed at 23/6/20. 

 Revised Licensing Act Statement of Principles 

 Homelessness – Horizon scanning presentation 
 

7 January 
2021 (Joint 
PMP/PDP – 
Budget 
Scrutiny) 

.   

19 January 
2021 

 Policy Register – standing agenda item.  

2 March 
2021 

 Policy Register – standing agenda item.   

 
 

 

Page 121



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B 
 

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL – WORK PROGRAMME 2020/2021 
 

Name of Task Group What the Task Group wants to achieve Date added to 
Work 
Programme 

Date Work 
Commenced     

Membership of 
Task Group 

Proposed date to report 
back to Panel 

Planning Design  To consider the draft Supplementary 
Planning Design document and how 
design issues raised (including those 
arising from the Performance Monitoring 
Panel’s Review of Implemented Planning 
Decisions tour) could be addressed within 
the document; and 
That the Task Group’s recommendations 
be incorporated into the draft 
Supplementary Planning Document, to be 
considered by the Policy Development 
Panel on 24 March 2020, with final 
agreement by the South East 
Lincolnshire Joint Strategic Planning 
Committee 
Scope agreed at first Task Group 
meeting 28 January 2020 
 

25 June 2019 28 January 
2020 
 

J Astill (Chair) 
J L King 
P A Redgate 
J L Reynolds  
S C Walsh 

Final Report to PDP 23 
June 2020. 
Further updated final 
report of PDP November 
2020 

Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) 
Task Group 

Scope to be agreed at first meeting of the 
Task Group.   
Task Group to consider the facts on the 
CIL, and findings to be fed into 
Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD) 
 
 
 
 

24 September 
2019 
Reconsidered 
21/1/20 

To run at 
same time as 
Planning 
Design Task 
Group-
findings to be 
fed into SPD. 

Avery 
Drury 
McLean  
Woolf 

 

P
age 123



 
PENDING TASK GROUPS 

 

Name of Task Group What the Task Group wants to achieve Date added to 
Work 
Programme 

Date Work 
Commenced     

Membership of 
Task Group 

Proposed date to report 
back to Panel 

Devolution Task Group Executive Manager Governance to set 
Terms of Reference once White Paper 
published 

23 June 2020 TBC TBC  

Data Protection/Data 
Retention Task Group 

To consider the implications of 
forthcoming changes to the Data 
Protection Policy as follows: 

 To develop the new policy in light of 
issues raised in the gap analysis and 
legislative changes and that a more 
detailed suggested scope would be 
circulated prior to the first Task Group 
meeting. 

 

3 October 
2017 

11 December 
2017 

H Drury 
M D McLean 
A R Woolf 
(Chairman) 
A Harrison  

To PDP 1 May 2018  
To Cabinet 29 May 2018 

 

P
age 124


	Agenda
	2. Minutes
	7. Key Decision Plan
	8. Policy Register
	9. Review of Lettings Policy for SHDC's Industrial Units
	Appendix 1 Lettings Policy for SHDC's Industrial Units
	Appendix 2 for Review of Lettings Policy for SHDC's Industrial Units

	10. Empty Homes Strategy
	Appendix 1 for Empty Homes Strategy
	Appendix 2 for Empty Homes Strategy

	11. Tenancy Management policy
	Appendix 1 for Tenancy Management policy

	12. Housing Assistance Policy
	Appendix 1 for Housing Assistance Policy
	Appendix 2 for Housing Assistance Policy

	13. Market Trader Fees
	14. Policy Development Panel Work Programme
	Appendix A
	Appendix B


